FORESTRY AND NATURAL SCIENCES

Oskari Uski

Toxicological Effects of Fine Particles from Smallscale Biomass Combustion

PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences



OSKARI USKI

Toxicological effects of fine particles from small-scale biomass combustion

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences Number 160

Academic Dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry for public examination in the Auditorium SN 201 in Snellmania Building at the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on November, 24, 2014, at 12 o'clock noon.

Department of Environmental Science

Grano Oy Kuopio, 2014 Editors: Pertti Pasanen, Prof. Pekka Kilpeläinen, Prof. Kai Peiponen, Prof. Matti Vornanen

Distribution: Eastern Finland University Library / Sales of publications P.O.Box 107, FI-80101 Joensuu, Finland tel. +358-50-3058396 http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

ISBN: 978-952-61-1600-6 (printed) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668, Publications of the University of Eastern Finland.

ISBN: 978-952-61-1601-3 (online, pdf) ISSNL: 1798-5668, Publications of the University of Eastern Finland.

Author's address:	University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science P.O.Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: oskari.uski@uef.fi
Supervisors:	Professor Maija-Riitta Hirvonen, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science P.O.Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: maija-riitta.hirvonen@uef.fi
	Pasi Jalava, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science P.O.Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: pasi.jalava@uef.fi
	Mikko Happo, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Science P.O.Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: mikko.happo@uef.fi

Reviewers:	Research professor Arja Rautio, MD, Ph.D. University of Oulu Centre for Arctic Medicine, Thule Institute P.O.Box 7300 90014 Oulu FINLAND email: arja.rautio@oulu.fi
	Research professor Hannu Norppa, Ph.D. Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Health and Work Ability 00250 HELSINKI FINLAND email: Hannu.Norppa@ttl.fi
Opponent:	Professor Dr. Jeroen Buters Technische Universität München ZAUM- Center for Allergy and Environment 80802 MUNICH GERMANY email: Buters@lrz.tum.de

ABSTRACT

Biomass combustion in residential heating is recognized as one of the most important sources of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}: particles $\leq 2.5 \ \mu m$ in aerodynamic diameter) not only in the developing countries but also in the developed countries and in urban environments. Epidemiological studies have revealed that exposure to current levels of urban air inhalable particulate matter (PM₁₀: particles \leq 10 µm in aerodynamic diameter) and PM_{2.5} increases both mortality and morbidity. In addition to size, shape and mass concentration, the chemical composition of the PM is important in determining the adverse health effects. One putative factor in the outcomes induced may be traced back to the presence of inorganic transition metals in the ultrafine particles (particles ≤ 100 nm in aerodynamic diameter). Zinc is one of the main transition metals in ash emissions from biomass combustion. It is known to induce toxic effects in animal lung as well as in pulmonary cells. The aim of this thesis was to compare the toxic properties of particulate samples derived from old and modern small-scale wood combustion appliances using *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. A specific aim was to gather information on the possible role of zinc in these toxic effects.

Healthy mice were intratracheally exposed to emission particles from five new and two old technology appliances. It was found that even though the modern technology appliances had clearly the smallest PM₁ (mg/MJ) emissions, they induced the highest toxicological responses in the mouse lungs when equal doses were compared. Ash related PM components, such as transition metals (including Zn) of the emissions increased the inflammatory, cytotoxic and genotoxic responses, whereas the highest polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) concentrations were associated with immunosuppressive effects and thus low inflammatory responses.

In an attempt to verify the findings from the animal study, an *in vitro* mouse macrophage cell line (RAW 264.7) was used to characterize the role of zinc among the other chemical components of the emissions. The first step was to duplicate as

similar combustion conditions as utilized in previous animal experiments by using a grate combustion reactor. In the next step, synthesized nanoparticles were made containing defined amounts of potassium, sulfur and zinc. These constituents are the major components forming inorganic particles during wood combustion. Finally, the toxic role of zinc was investigated by burning pellets containing different concentrations of added zinc using similar pellet boiler as in the animal experiments. It was shown that both synthetic zinc nanoparticles as well as particles derived from combustion of zinc-enriched pellets exhibited a toxicity profile very similar to that found after exposure of macrophages to the particles from reactor-made efficient combustion. Moreover, other components (potassium and sulfur) found in efficient combustion PM emissions were not capable of evoking toxic responses.

In conclusion, zinc has an important role in the induced toxic effects of PM from efficient continuous wood combustion. In contrast, high concentrations of organic compounds (i.e. PAHs) are likely to induce immunosuppressive effects, especially from inefficient combustion conditions. If one wishes to prevent potential adverse health effects, more attention should be paid to the quality of the biomass fuel as well as by ensuring efficient combustion conditions to lower the total mass of particulate emissions.

Universal Decimal Classification: 502.3, 504.5, 544.452, 662.613 National Library of Medicine Classification: WA 754

CAB Thesaurus: air pollutants; combustion; burning; wood; wood smoke; particles; aerosols; chemical composition; health hazards; toxicity; cytotoxicity; genotoxicity; inflammation; lungs; histopathology; reactive oxygen species; metals; transition elements; zinc; mice

TIIVISTELMÄ

Kotitalouksien biomassan polton tiedetään olevan yksi tärkeimmistä pienhiukkasten (PM2.5: hiukkaset ≤ 2,5 µm aerodynaaminen halkaisija) lähteistä, ei vain kehitysmaissa, myös kehittyneissä maissa. vaan Epidemiologisissa tutkimuksissa on havaittu kaupunki-ilman hengitettävien hiukkasten (PM₁₀: hiukkaset $\leq 10 \mu m$ aerodynaaminen halkaisija) ja erityisesti pienhiukkasten lisäävän kuolleisuutta ia sairastuvuutta. Haittavaikutusten syntyyn vaikuttaa hiukkasten koon, muodon ja massapitoisuuden lisäksi niiden kemiallinen koostumus. Yhdeksi haittavaikutuksia aiheuttavaksi tekijäksi on ehdotettu ultrapienissä hiukkasissa (hiukkaset ≤ 100 nm aerodynaaminen halkaisija) esiintyviä siirtymämetalleja. Sinkki yksi tärkeimmistä biomassan poltossa vapautuvien on tuhkahiukkasten siirtymämetalleista. Sinkin tiedetään aiheuttavan toksisia vasteita niin koe-eläinten keuhkoissa kuin viljellyissä keuhkosoluissa. Tämän väitöskirjan tavoitteena oli tutkia modernien ja perinteisten puun polttolaitteiden hiukkaspäästöjen haittavaikutuksia, sekä erityisesti sinkin osuutta todetuissa vasteissa. Tutkimukset toteutettiin käyttäen koe-eläin- ja solumallia.

Hiukkasten toksikologisia vaikutuksia tutkittiin terveillä hiirillä, jotka altistettiin intratrakeaalisesti viidelle modernin ja kahdelle perinteisen kotitalouskokoluokan polttolaitteen hiukkasille. Modernien puunpolttolaitteiden päästöt olivat pienimmät tuotettua energiayksikköä (mg/MJ) kohti, mutta samalla aiheuttivat voimakkaimmat toksiset vasteet hiiren keuhkoissa kun hiukkasnäytteitä annosteltiin massaperusteisesti. Hiukkasissa olevat tuhkakomponentit kuten siirtymämetallit (mukaan lukien sinkki) liittyivät havaittuihin tulehduksen, solukuoleman ja perimävaurion vasteisiin. Sitä vastoin hiukkasissa olevat polysykliset aromaattiset hiilivedyt (PAH) liittyivät immuunivasteen estymiseen ja näin ollen matalaan tulehdukseen.

Eläinkokeiden tuloksia tutkittiin tarkemmin hiiren makrofagisolulinjassa jotta sinkin ja muiden kemiallisten

komponenttien roolia puunpolton päästöissä ymmärrettäisiin paremmin. Solukokeita varten valmistettiin polttoreaktorissa samankaltaisia hiukkasia kuin eläinkokeissa oli tutkittu. Seuraavaksi syntetisoitiin nanohiukkasia jotka sisälsivät ennalta määrätyn pitoisuuden kaliumia, rikkiä ja sinkkiä. Nämä ovat tärkeimpiä komponentteja, jotka muodostavat epäorgaanisia pienhiukkasia puunpoltossa. Lopuksi tutkittiin sinkin toksista roolia päästöhiukkasissa polttamalla pellettikattilassa koetta varten valmistettuja pellettejä, joihin oli lisätty tunnettuja pitoisuuksia sinkkiä. Tulokset osoittivat että synteettisillä sinkki-nanohiukkasilla sekä sinkillä rikastettujen pellettien polton hiukkasilla oli samankaltainen toksisuusprofiili kuin palamisen tehokkaan näytteellä, joka oli peräisin polttoreaktorista. Sen sijaan muut lähes täydellisessä puun palamisessa vapautuvien hiukkasten pääkomponentit (kalium ja rikki) eivät aiheuttaneet havaittavia toksisia vasteita.

Tässä väitöskirjassa saatujen tulosten perusteella voidaan sanoa, että sinkillä on merkittävä rooli jatkuvatoimisten polttolaitteiden päästöhiukkasten aiheuttamien toksisten vasteiden synnyssä. Sitä vastoin epätäydellisessä palamisessa vapautuvat orgaaniset yhdisteet aiheuttavat todennäköisesti immuunivasteen heikentymistä. Näin ollen hiukkasten terveyshaittojen vähentämiseksi on erityisen tärkeää että kiinnitetään enemmän huomiota biopolttoaineiden laatuun. Tämän lisäksi on tärkeää polttaa biopolttoaineita optimoiduissa olosuhteissa päästöjen hiukkasmassan vähentämiseksi.

Yleinen suomalainen asiasanasto: ilma - epäpuhtaudet; pienhiukkaset; aerosolit; poltto; palaminen; biopolttoaineet; puu; päästöt; savukaasut; kemiallinen koostumus; terveysvaikutukset; terveyshaitat; myrkyllisyys; tulehdus; keuhkot; happiradikaalit; metallit; sinkki; hiiret

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BALF	Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
DCF	2',7'- dichlorodihydrofluorescein
DGI	Dekati [®] Gravimetric Impactor
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
Dp	Particle diameter
EDS	Energy dispersive X-ray spectrometry
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FSP	Flame spray pyrolysis
GSH	Reduced glutathione
GSSG	Glutathione disulfide
HPLC-MS	High-performance liquid chromatograph mass
	spectrometer
HSD	honest significant difference
IC	Inorganic carbon
ICP/MS	Inductively-coupled plasma mass spectrometer
IFN-γ	Interferon-y
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
KC	Keratinocyte-derived chemokine
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LPA	Lymphocyte proliferation assays
MIP-2	Macrophage inflammatory protein 2
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl-
	tetrazolium bromide
NBT	Nitroblue tetrazolium
NO	Nitric oxide
NP	Nanoparticle
NT	New technology
OC	Organic carbon
OGC	Organic gaseous carbon

OT	Old technology
OTM	Olive tail moment
OVA	Ovalbumin
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononucleate cell
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PI	Propidium iodide
PM _x	Particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter
	less than x µm
PM _{x-y}	Particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter
	between x and y μm
PRD	Porous tube diluter
PTFE	Fluoropore TM membrane filter
RAW 264.7	Abelson murine leukemia virus transformed
	mouse macrophage/monocyte cell line
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROFA	Residual oil fly ash
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell park memorial institute
SCGE	Single cell gel electrophoresis assay
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SIM	Selected ion monitoring
TC	Total carbon
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
THC	Total hydrocarbon
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor α
VOC	Volatile organic compound

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on data presented in the following articles, referred to by the Roman numerals I-V.

Happo M S, Uski O, Jalava P I, Kelz J, Brunner T, Hakulinen P, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Kosma V M, Jokiniemi J, Obernberger I and Hirvonen M R. Pulmonary inflammation and tissue damage in the mouse lung after exposure to PM samples from biomass heating appliances of old and modern technologies.

Science of the Total Environment 443: 256-266, 2013.

- II Uski O, Happo M S, Jalava P I, Brunner T, Kelz J, Obernberger I, Jokiniemi J and Hirvonen M R. Acute systemic and lung inflammation in C57Bl/6J mice after intratracheal aspiration of particulate matter from smallscale biomass combustion appliances based on old and modern technologies. *Inhalation Toxicology* 14: 952-965, 2012.
- III Uski O, Jalava P I, Happo M S, Leskinen J, Sippula O, Tissari J, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Jokiniemi J and Hirvonen M R. Different toxic mechanisms are activated by emission PM depending on combustion efficiency. *Atmospheric Environment 89: 623-632, 2014.*
- IV Torvela T, Uski O, Karhunen T, Lähde A, Jalava P I, Sippula O, Tissari J, Hirvonen M R and Jokiniemi J. Reference particles for toxicological studies of wood combustion: formation, characteristics and toxicity compared to real wood combustion PM. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 27(9): 1516-1527, 2014.

✔ Uski O, Jalava P I, Happo M S, Torvela T, Leskinen J, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Tissari J, Sippula O, Lamberg H, Jokiniemi J and Hirvonen M R. Zinc enhances toxicological responses of PM₁ from pellet combustion *in vitro*. Submitted.

The original articles have been reproduced with permission of the copyright holders.

AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

The publications in this dissertation are original research papers on how PM emission from wood combustion can exert biological effects.

In vivo studies (Study I and II): The author participated in conducting the toxicological animal experiments, analysis of the samples, and preparation of manuscript I. Manuscript II was mainly written by author.

In vitro studies (Studies III-V): The author participated in planning and conducting all of the toxicological experiments and carried out the toxicological analysis of the samples. The author also performed the statistical analysis presented in figures and tables. The author wrote manuscripts III and V and mainly wrote the toxicological parts of manuscript IV.

All papers were finalized in significant co-operation with the coauthors.

Contents

1 Introduction	17
2 Literature review	20
2.1 CLIENTICAL CLIADACTEDISTICS OF MOOD	,
2.1 CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WOOD	22
COMBUSTION EMISSIONS	
2.1.1 Effects of fuel on emissions	22
2.1.2 Effects of combustion technology and	
combustion conditions on emission	23
2.1.2.1 Inefficient wood combustion	25
2.1.2.2 Efficient wood combustion	26
2.2 ADVERSE HEALTH EFFECTS OF	
WOOD COMBUSTION	27
2.2.1 Toxic effects of particulate matter	28
2.2.1.1 Inflammation	29
2.2.1.2 Oxidative stress	30
2.2.1.3 Cell death and cytotoxicity	31
2.2.1.4 Genotoxicity	33
2.2.2 Human exposure studies with volunteers	34
2.2.3 Animal studies with wood smoke emissions	37
2.2.4 In vitro studies conducted with wood combustion	
emissions particles	41
1	
3 Aims of the study	44
4 Materials and methods	45
4.1 PARTICULATE MATTER SAMPLES (I-V)	45
4.1.1 Particulate sampler used in campaigns	45
4.1.2 Preparation of filter in the sampling campaigns	46

4.1.3 Particulate sampling campaigns	46
4.1.4 Sample extraction for chemical and	
toxicological analysis	48
4.1.5 Characterization of the particles	48
4.1.5.1 PAH analysis	48
4.1.5.2 Element and ion analysis	49
4.1.5.3 Carbon analysis	49
4.1.5.3 Transmission electron microscopy analysis	50
4.2 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN (I-V)	50
4.2.1 In vivo (I, II)	50
4.2.1.1 Sample preparation	50
4.2.1.2 Animals	51
4.2.1.3 Exposure method and dose	51
4.2.1.4 BALF and blood collection	52
4.2.1.5 Experiments	52
4.2.2 <i>In vitro</i> (III-V)	54
4.2.2.1 Sample preparation	54
4.2.2.2 Cell line	54
4.2.2.3 Experiments	55
4.3 TOXICOLOGICAL ANALYSIS (I-V)	57
4.3.1 Tissue damage and cell death	57
4.3.1.1 LDH and protein measurement (I, II)	57
4.3.1.2 MTT-assay (III)	57
4.3.1.3 PI exclusion method (IV, V)	58
4.3.1.4 Cell cycle analysis (III-V)	58
4.3.2 Measurement of inflammation (I-V)	59
4.3.2.1 BALF cells (I, II)	59
4.3.2.2 Histopathology (I)	59
4.3.2.3 ELISA method for cytokine analysis (I, III-V)	60
4.3.2.4 Electrochemiluminescence method for cytokine	
analysis (II)	60
4.3.3 Genotoxicity and ROS analysis	61
4.3.3.1 Genotoxicity (I, III, V)	61
4.3.2.2 ROS analysis (III-V)	61
4.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (I-V)	62
4.4.1 In vivo (I, II)	62
4.4.1 <i>In vitro</i> (III-V)	62

5 Results and discussion	64
5.1 IN VIVO STUDIES (I, II)	64
5.1.1 Chemical composition of the particulate samples (I, II)	64
5.1.2 Pulmonary responses to particulate samples (I, II)	66
5.1.2.1 Inflammatory mediator responses (II)	66
5.1.2.2 Cells (I, II)	69
5.1.3 Relationships between toxic responses	
in vivo and the chemical composition of the samples	72
5.2 IN VITRO STUDIES (III-IV)	77
5.2.1 PM samples chemical composition	77
5.2.2 Cell death, cell cycle arrest and ROS production	81
5.2.2.1 Cell death	81
5.2.2.2 Cell cycle arrest	82
5.2.2.3 ROS production	83
5.3 Methodological considerations	86
6 Conclusions	88
7 Acknowledgments	90
8 References	93
Appendix	112

1 Introduction

Airborne particulate matter (PM) originates from many different sources, e.g. traffic, industry and energy production. PM is known to cause adverse health effects in humans (WHO 2004). Fine particles (PM_{2.5}: particles $\leq 2.5 \ \mu m$ in aerodynamic diameter) are regarded as one of the most harmful pollutants present in ambient air (WHO 2003; USEPA 2004; Pope & Dockery, 2006). Residential biomass combustion is a major source of those particles in both the developing and the developed countries (Boman et al., 2003; Saarikoski at al., 2008; Krecl et al., 2008; Favez et al., 2009; Ward & Lange, 2010; Zhang et al., 2010). In epidemiological studies wood smoke exposure has been linked to increased incidence of asthma and respiratory symptoms (Boman et al., 2003; Allen et al., 2008; Ghio, 2008; Mirabelli et al., 2009), cardiovascular effects and increased hospital admissions of cardiorespiratory patients (Orozco-Levi et al., 2006; Schreuder et al., 2006; Andersen et al., 2007; Sarnat et al., 2008). Moreover, epidemiological studies which have been conducted in the developing countries have detected a high incidence of lung cancer in those women who use open fire stoves indoors (Xiao et al., 2012; Hu et al., 2014). There is also increasing evidence from both in vivo and in vitro experiments as well as from controlled human studies, demonstrating that exposure to fresh biomass combustion able to evoke adverse effects, particles is including inflammation, cytotoxic effects, genotoxic effects, oxidative stress and arterial stiffness (Barregard et al., 2006; Sevastyanova et al., 2007; Jalava et al., 2012; Unosson et al., 2013).

In addition to the direct health hazards, it is well known that atmospheric aerosols can influence climate (IPCC, 2013), and thus may cause indirect health impacts (Gabriel & Endlicher, 2011; Yardley et al., 2011). Wood combustion produces soot, which warms the atmosphere by absorbing solar radiation (Jacobson et al., 2010). Furthermore, incomplete wood combustion produces greenhouse gases such as nitrous oxides and methane (Brassarda et al., 2014). Nonetheless, the usage of fossil fuel for heat production is discouraged, since its emissions are considered harmful to climate and the exploitation of renewable energy sources is strongly encouraged as a way to reduce greenhouse gas emission (EU Directive 2009/287EC; The President's Climate Action Plan, June 2013). This policy will increase all kinds of biomass energy in the future.

The emissions from small-scale biomass combustion are not only dependent on the technology used in the heating appliance, the fuel quality and operating conditions, such as load and the air staging settings are also key factors determining the amount and the composition of particles being emitted from the heater. Thus, emissions from small-scale combustion have been demonstrated to be extremely heterogenic between appliances (Nussbaumer, 2003; Johansson et al., 2003, 2004; Sippula et al., 2007a) as well as between operation practices with the same appliance (e.g. Jordan & Seen, 2005; Leskinen et al., 2014).

Overall, there is only limited amount of data available on the toxicological mechanisms behind the reported adverse health effects of PM from small-scale wood combustion. In particular, there is a lack of studies which would have compared the physical and chemical properties of the PM (e.g. particle size and morphology, number and mass concentration, chemical composition) with their induced toxicological end points (e.g. Kelly & Fussell, 2012). This kind of multidisciplinary data are urgently needed to help in the new formulation of ambient air quality standards and when targeted PM control strategies are planned. In particular, focused restrictions on the most toxic constituents of PM_{2.5} and their sources could protect the general public more efficiently than adherence to the current PM mass based standards (Mauderly et al., 2010).

This thesis studied the significance of different chemical composition influencing the toxicity of fine PM emission from new (NT) and old (OT) technology small-scale wood

combustion appliances. More specifically, the goal was to increase knowledge concerning the toxicity of emissions from NT wood combustion furnaces and to evaluate the possible causative role of zinc in the emission PM. The investigation was based on animal model and cell line experiments which involved an extensive physiochemical analysis of the particles with respect to health related toxicological endpoints. The literature review part of this thesis concentrates on the PM emissions from wood combustion and their toxic effects.

2 Literature review

Inhalable aerosols in the air form a complex mixture of solid, liquid and gaseous components, which have originated from a wide range of anthropogenic and natural sources. The particulate size distribution in ambient air and indoors usually consists of four modes: nuclei mode (particle diameter Dp < 100nm), Aitken mode (Dp < 0.1 μ m), accumulation mode (0.1 μ m < $Dp < 1 \mu m$) and coarse mode ($Dp > 1 \mu m$) (Friedlander, 1971). In epidemiological studies, particles are divided into ultrafine particles (particles \leq 100 nm in aerodynamic diameter), fine particles (particles $\leq 2.5 \ \mu m$ in aerodynamic diameter) and coarse thoracic particles (particles $\leq 10 \ \mu m$ in aerodynamic diameter) (USEPA 2004). Each of these particle size ranges has a composition, and distinct chemical source formation mechanism. The ultrafine particles originate from high processes, atmospheric transformation temperature and combustion sources e.g. diesel engine exhaust and small-scale combustion. These particles grow very rapidly due to coagulation as well as through the condensation of water on their surface. Most of the ultrafine particles gradually grow into accumulation particles. The ultrafine particles contain sulfates, elemental (EC) and organic carbon (OC) and trace metals that are mostly derived from the combustion sources. The fine particles are partly formed from ultrafine particles and originate from coal, oil, gas, diesel and biomass combustion. Thus their origin, the chemistry of the fine particles is related to ultrafine particles but they contain more sulfate, nitrate and water. Finally coarse thoracic particles arise from re-suspended industrial and road dust, suspension from disturbed soil, tire and brake pad as well as road wear debris, sea spray and biogenic material. The chemical composition of coarse particles' includes nitrates, chlorides and sulfates, oxides of crustal elements and metals. In addition, coarse particles contain pollen and microbe fragments as well as fungal spores (USEPA 2004, 2009).

There is an impressive body of toxicological and epidemiological data describing both the short- and long-term adverse effects of atmospheric PM on human health. Concerns have been raised about fine and ultrafine particles. In epidemiological studies, these particles have been associated with an increased prevalence of stroke and cardiac outcomes (Madl & Pinkerton, 2009; Mills et al., 2009; Franchini & Mannucci, 2009, 2011). Their detrimental effects are thought to be attributable to both reactive organic species and metals (Mills et al., 2009). Moreover, there is only a limited amount of scientific data about the toxicological properties and the related chemical constituents of fine and ultrafine particles, which are released from primary combustion sources e.g. small-scale wood combustion.

Existing air quality monitoring is based on the measurement of PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} size fractions (WHO 2003, 2004). However, it is known that ambient air contains several different size fractions which all exert their own adverse health effects. Those can be evaluated using toxicological studies. Ambient air samples for toxicological studies are collected using high volume cascade impactors in order to gather a sufficient PM mass and to size segregate the collected particles (Fruin et al., 2014). This approach makes it possible to studying toxic effects of different size fractions and sources (Novák et al., 2014). The same methods that are used to collect ambient air PM can be used to collect PM directly from the combustion sources. The emission particles coming from combustion sources are usually very small (tens to few hundreds nm in diameter) and their concentration in the emission gas is very high. In addition, emissions directly after combustion source are extremely hot and are under constant change. In order to overcome those problems, the emissions need to be diluted, which also stabilizes the emission and makes it possible to collect homogenous PM sample (Giechaskiel et al., 2014). In this thesis, a previously validated Dekati® Gravimetric Impactor (DGI) (Ruusunen et al.,

2011) was used to collect PM from small-scale wood combustion. In the DGI, a high flow rate of 70 l/min is used which allows a high PM collection capacity in short collection time to enable simultaneous chemical analyses and toxicological studies with a variety of *in vivo* and *in vitro* methods.

2.1 CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WOOD COMBUSTION EMISSIONS

Wood combustion emissions affect local, regional and global environments. At the local level, residential wood combustion is responsible for the release of significant amount of fine PM (e.g. Glasius et al., 2006; Hellén et al., 2008). Many chemicals are bound to those particles e.g. polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) as well as chlorine and many metals such as potassium, calcium, zinc, manganese, copper, and lead (Marchand et al., 2004; Molnar et al., 2005). Wood smoke also contains volatile organic compounds (Mandalakis et al., 2005; Gaeggeler et al., 2008) which may have negative health effects. Residential wood combustion increases exposure to 1,3-butadiene and benzene within those houses where wood is being used for heating (Gustafson et al., 2007). The regional environment is affected by biomass combustion emissions, since these reduce the air quality. Finally, wood combustion can affect the global environment via emissions of greenhouse gases and PM, especially black carbon (Fountoukis et al., 2014). Black carbon has a large light absorption capacity (Hansen & Nazarenko, 2004) and thus it is estimated to be the second-greatest contributor to global warming after carbon dioxide (Jacobson, 2001; Ramanathan & Carmichael, 2008).

2.1.1 Effects of fuel on emissions

The chemical composition of the fuel has an important effect on the emissions appearing after biomass combustion. The volatile matter content in wood is high in contrast to many other solid fuels. Wood is composed mainly of cellulose (40–45% of dry weight), hemicellulose (20–35%) and lignin (15–30%) (Rowell, 1984). In addition, wood fuel contains water. There are also other organic and inorganic elements and compounds which are bound to the structure of wood. The main elements are calcium, potassium, magnesium, manganese, sulphur, chlorine, phosphorus, iron, aluminum and zinc (Sippula et al., 2007b). However, the chemical composition of wood fuel varies depending on species, age, habitat as well as which part of the plant is being used as the fuel (Fogel & Cromack, 1977; Rowell, 1984; Sippula et al., 2007b). In particular, bark contains high amounts of ash forming components including zinc (Sippula et al., 2007b).

2.1.2 Effects of combustion technology and combustion conditions on emission

Combustion technology and operational practice of appliances have a major impact of physicochemical properties of the emitted particles (Figure 1.) (e.g. Tissari et al., 2008; Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009). It is known that residential wood combustion in OT furnaces is a major source of PM_{2.5} emissions, PAHs and certain gaseous pollutants such as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (e.g. Karvosenoja et al., 2008). Instead, if one can achieve efficient biomass combustion, the complex carbon compounds are reduced to CO₂ and H₂O almost completely but that still leaves incombustible volatile alkali and transition metals which were present in the fuel, leading to the formation of fine fly ash particles, while the non-volatile species typically form large ash particles (Oser et al., 2001; Boman et al., 2004; Sippula et al., 2007a,b). It is noteworthy that inefficient combustion may produce equivalent amounts of inorganic ash components as efficient combustion when the emission factor (mg/MJ fuel energy content) is taken into account (Leskinen et al., 2014).

In general, the fine particles emitted from residential wood combustion appliances may be divided roughly into two characteristic classes based on the combustion efficiency (Obaidullah et al., 2012). When there is inefficient combustion, the particles are relatively large and contain carbon in a variety of forms. The particle emissions from efficient combustion devices are dominated by ash species such as potassium, sulfate, chloride and many transition metals (Tissari et al., 2008; Wiinikka et al., 2013). Those particles are usually small and their number is far greater than the particles emerging from inefficient combustion (Tissari et al., 2008; Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009). It should be emphasized that in real combustion situations, the particle classes co-exist and interact (Torvela et al., 2014).



Figure 1. Simplified scheme of particle formation during wood combustion. Modified from Sippula et al. (2009). Abbreviation: PAHs, polyaromatic hydrocarbons.

2.1.2.1 Inefficient wood combustion

Burning wood with a high moisture content, overloading the furnace or providing an insufficient air supply can all cause incomplete combustion i.e. there is a low temperature and high PM emissions (Figure 1.) (Tissari et al., 2008). The emissions emerging from inefficient combustion conditions are dominated by CO, H₂, SO₂, NO_x, partially combusted hydrocarbons, and different solid particles. Inefficient wood combustion produces thousands of different organic compounds including highly oxygenated organic species and PAH compounds (McDonald et al., 2000; Fine et al., 2001; Schauer et al., 2001; Lee et al., 2005; Alfarra et al., 2007; Mazzoleni et al., 2007). The organic compounds can be present either as gases or bound to particles (Tucker, 2001; Kliucininkas et al., 2011). PAHs are formed in the flame when hydrocarbons polymerize (Verhoeven et al., 2013). In addition, the aerosol from inefficient wood combustion includes liquid or tarlike components. Those particles are formed from organic vapors which are cooled down (Pyykönen et al., 2007). Soot particles are the first particles to be formed in inefficient wood combustion. Those particles are formed in the flame from hydrocarbons. The formation of soot is a very complex process but it is believed to happen via PAH clusters, particle inception, surface growth and coagulation (Kozinski & Saade, 1998; Wilson et al., 2013). Soot particles are a typical characteristic of inefficient combustion, and thus while they are likely to be emitted from old wood stoves and boilers (e.g. Tissari et al., 2008), they can be emitted from any appliance under poor combustion conditions (Hindsgaul et al., 2000; Johansson et al., 2003; Wierzbicka et al., 2005; Torvela et al., 2014).

The carbon which is present in wood combustion particles is classified as organic (OC), elemental (EC) or inorganic carbon (IC). The carbon in the emission samples is usually measured using thermal optical carbon analyzer which is based on the principle that different types of carbon-containing particles are converted into gases under different temperature and oxidation conditions (Han et al., 2007). OC is formed from thousands of organic compounds. EC, on the other hand, is characterized as the carbon that is not organic (Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009). IC is usually calcium carbonate which is subtracted from the EC results (Bisutti et al., 2004). Due to the low combustion temperature, the PM from incomplete combustion is dominated by OC (McDonald et al., 2000; Hays et al., 2003). When the combustion temperature increases and more oxygen is available, more EC is present in emission and there are greater numbers of soot aggregates (Tissari et al., 2008). The size of PM from low temperature incomplete combustion has varied between 50 to 600 nm when measured by electron microscopy (Kocbach et al., 2005; Klippel & Nussbaumer, 2007; Torvela et al., 2014). In contrast, soot aggregates are usually smaller and more homogenous (20-50 nm) (Kocbach et al., 2005; Gwaze et al., 2006; Torvela et al., 2014).

2.1.2.2 Efficient wood combustion

If one wishes to achieve efficient wood combustion, all of the following requirements have to be met: sufficient supply of combustible air to ensure complete oxidation, sufficiently high temperature for chemical reaction kinetics, sufficiently long residence time at high temperature and sufficient mixing of fuel components and air (Sippula et al., 2007a; Tissari et al., 2008). The combustion of wood in NT appliances, e.g. pellet- or wood chips boilers, usually achieves those types of combustion conditions. The emissions from those appliances are dominated by inorganic ash particles (Figure 1.). The most abundant components in efficient combustion PM are potassium alkali salts, sodium, sulfate, chlorides, carbonates and transition metal oxides (Johansson et al., 2003; Boman et al., 2004; Torvela et al., 2014). The content of OC and EC is very low in the PM emitted if there are efficient combustion conditions (Löndahl et al., 2007; Torvela et al., 2014).

In efficient combustion, the particles are formed from vaporized inorganic elements, which originate from wood fuel (Sippula et al., 2007a,b). The combustion temperature has a major impact on the vaporization of inorganic compounds of

wood fuel. Thus, combustion produces more ash particles at a high temperature than at a lower temperature (Davidsson et al., 2002; Knudsen et al., 2004). The most highly volatile inorganic compounds present in wood fuel are potassium, sulfur, chlorine, sodium, zinc and calcium (Knudsen et al., 2004). Thus, the fine fly ash from wood combustion is mainly composed of potassium sulfate (K₂SO₄), potassium chloride (KCl), potassium hydroxide (KOH) and potassium carbonate (K₂CO₃) (Boman et al., 2004; Sippula et al., 2007a; Torvela et al., 2014). The first compound to form in fine ash particles is ZnO; this process occurs during the very early stage of cooling of the flue gas (Sippula et al., 2009; Torvela et al., 2014). The formation occurs due to the oxidation of elemental Zn vapor and its subsequent rapid nucleation due to the very low vapor pressure of ZnO. ZnO formation is followed by the gas-to-particle conversion of alkali sulfates, which are also produced in gas-phase reactions. For fuels with a very low Zn content, it is believed that K₂SO₄ forms the first nuclei into which other chemical species can condense (Sippula et al., 2007b). The formation of vapors of alkali carbonates and alkali chlorides condense later as the temperature continues to decline. The size of the PM from efficient combustion has varied between 25-160 nm when this is measured by electron microscopy (Mavrocordatos et al., 2002; Torvela et al., 2014).

2.2 ADVERSE HEALTH EFFECTS OF WOOD COMBUSTION

In epidemiological studies, exposure to wood smoke has been associated with a range of pulmonary effects, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), decreased lung function, cardiac events, and exacerbation of asthma as well as increased risk of lung cancer (McGowan et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2004; Behera & Balamugesh, 2005; Hernandez-Garduno et al., 2004; Mannino & Buist, 2007; Qian et al., 2007; Noonan & Ward, 2012; Groom et al., 2014; Guarnieri et al., 2014). To confirm the results obtained from epidemiological studies, markers of

induced toxic responses from wood smoke exposure have been studied in human volunteers in chambers as well as in animal models. Moreover, cell cultures have been widely used to reveal the toxic mechanisms of the wood smoke particles (Naeher et al., 2007; Kocbach Bølling et al., 2009). Furthermore, experimental studies offer the potential to reveal information about the mechanisms of toxicity as well as defining the relative toxicities of different emission mixtures and distinct sources. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the associations, which have been reported in epidemiological studies between particle exposure and adverse health effects (Squadrito et al., 2001; Anderson et al., 2012; Martinelli et al., 2013). Those effects include particle-induced inflammation, oxidative stress, cytotoxic effects and genotoxic effects (Barregard et al., 2006; Reed et al., 2006; Seagrave et al., 2006; Naeher et al., 2007). Inflammation is considered to be the most important factor and indeed the inflammatory potential of ambient particles has been linked to chronic pulmonary diseases, atherosclerosis and acute cardiac effects (Kofler et al., 2005; Tousoulis et al., 2006; Bai et al., 2007). In addition, the cytotoxicity of particles is involved in tissue damage in the lungs, whereas the carcinogenic risk is primarily linked to genotoxicity (Schwarze et al., 2006; Schins & Knaapen 2007).

2.2.1 Toxic effects of particulate matter

PM exposure triggers a variety of adverse cardiorespiratory health effects. These effects can be clarified by studying the toxicological mechanisms in animal and cell models. Pulmonary inflammation and oxidative stress may be considered as the main toxic mechanisms behind the short-term adverse effects (Riva et al., 2011), whereas cytotoxicity and genotoxicity are the main mechanisms behind the long-term effects (Hogg et al., 2004). The research methods for these main toxicological mechanisms both *in vitro* and *in vivo* are listed in Table 1.

Endpoint	Marker	in vitro/in vivo	Assay examples
Inflammation			
	Cytokines	both	ELISA, PCR
	Inflammation cells influx	in vivo	Cell differentials
	Immune cells surface markers	both	CD-proteins antibody labeling
Oxidative stress			
	Lipid peroxidation	both	MDA detection
	GSH depletion	both	GSH/GSSG relation
	Free radicals	both	DCF-signal, NBT-assay
Cell death and tissue damage			
	LDH	both	LDH-activity assay
	Total protein	in vivo	Protein measurement from BALF
	Apoptosis	both	TUNEL-assay, Caspase-3 activation, Annexin A5-labeling
	Necrosis	in vitro	PI-staining, Trypan blue
Genotoxity			
	DNA strand breaks	both	Single cell gel electrophoresis
	Structural chromosomal aberrations	both	Micronucleus test

 Table 1. Research methods for toxicological studies

Abbreviations: ELISA, Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; CD, cluster of differentiation; MDA, malondialdehyde; GSH, Reduced glutathione; GSSG, glutathione disulfide; DCF, 2'.7'-dichlorofluorescein; NBT, Nitro blue tetrazolium chloride; LDH, Lactate dehydrogenase, BALF; bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; TUNEL, Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling; PI, Propidium iodide.

2.2.1.1 Inflammation

Inflammation is regarded as the main mechanism activated by PM exposure causing respiratory and cardiovascular effects (e.g. Gold et al., 2000; McCreanor et al., 2007, Anderson et al., 2012). *In vivo* inflammation can be assessed by recognizing different inflammatory cell types from respiratory lavage fluids or by detecting inflammatory changes in histopathological analyses of tissue samples (Oberdorster, 1995). In addition, the levels of inflammatory mediators i.e. cytokines, can be measured from the biological samples including lavage fluids and serum. *In*

vitro inflammation is usually analyzed by measuring these same mediators from the culture media of the exposed cell cultures.

Cytokines are relatively small proteins that are important in the body's inflammatory response. The cytokine class includes chemokines, interferons, interleukins, lymphokines and tumor necrosis factors (Vinatier et al., 1995). Cytokines are produced by many cell types but especially immune and epithelial cells. The most common way to measure those proteins in biological fluids is to utilize enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) where antibodies are used to detect the desired inflammation mediator (Lequin, 2005).

Inflammation occurs when monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells or epithelial cells become activated by external stimuli to release inflammatory mediators (Silbajoris et al., 2011; Nemmar et al., 2013). The goal of inflammation is to protect the body not only against invading pathogens and other microorganisms but also any other foreign material e.g. particles (Abbas et al., 2007). Inflammation can be roughly classified into either acute or chronic (Driscoll et al., 1990). The body's acute response to harmful stimuli is characterized by an increased movement of leukocytes from the blood into the site of the inflammation (Oberdorster et al., 1996). This mechanism is mediated by cytokines. Chronic inflammation leads to a progressive shift in the type of cells present at the site of inflammation and this condition is characterized by the simultaneous destruction and healing of the tissue (Ferrero-Miliani et al., 2007). This type of inflammatory damage is present in obstructive and long-term respiratory diseases, e.g. COPD and asthma i.e. it is also, related to respiratory tissue damage (Hogg et al., 2004).

2.2.1.2 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress via reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a wellknown and important mechanism activated by particulate exposure in humans (e.g. Sørensen et al., 2005; Anderson et al., 2012). Oxidative stress becomes manifested when there is an imbalance between the amount of ROS and the cell's ability to scavenge these radicals or to repair the resulting damage. Disturbances in this balance can cause toxic effects that damage cell proteins, lipids, and DNA (Devasagayam et al., 2004). This causes oxidative stress which is the causative factor in many other adverse toxic mechanisms, including inflammation and genotoxicity. Indeed, oxidative damage is associated with the primary development of asthma and COPD (Vlahos & Bozinovski, 2014). ROS are produced extensively in phagocytic cells as a normal product to fight against invading pathogens. E.g. alveolar macrophages develop a so-called respiratory burst activity, produce reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and release cytokines after particulate exposure (Driscoll et al., 1990). Moreover, ROS may be directly generated from the surface of particles and those radicals can be the source of DNA damage and cell death (Knaapen et al., 2004, Risom et al. 2005).

There are a number of well-established methods with which available to measure intracellular ROS that usually are applicable in both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Widely used methods involve the detection of oxidation-mediated changes in fluorescent dyes, e.g. dihydroethidium (Zielonka et al., 2012). Nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) may also be used for detecting the presence of intracellular ROS. NBT can be oxidized into purpleblue formazan compounds that can be detected as a purplecolored precipitate inside the cells (Freeman & King, 1972). In addition, there are several chemiluminescent substances that are very widely used in measuring intracellular ROS (Fingerova et al., 2009).

2.2.1.3 Cell death and cytotoxicity

Long-term exposure to PM results airway remodeling and chronic inflammation, which can lead development of COPD and asthma (Hogg et al., 2004). Asbestos and tobacco smoke are probably the best-known examples of chronic exposures which causes cell damage in lungs (Bartal, 2005; Rastrick & Birrell, 2014).

Cell death can be assessed both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The detection method depends on which kind of cell death one

wishes to measure. In necrotic cell death, the cells rapidly lose their membrane integrity and release their contents into the surroundings (Fink & Cookson, 2005). This process is uncontrolled and leads to an inflammatory response. If the exposure does not kill the cells immediately, many repair mechanism may be activated. However should, these mechanisms fail, the cells can undergo programmed cell death, i.e. apoptosis. Apoptosis is characterized by cytoplasmic shrinkage, nuclear condensation and DNA fragmentation (Fink & Cookson, 2005). This mechanism is a controlled way in which the organism can remove damaged cells from the tissues. There is also a third way in which a cell can die, i.e. pyroptosis. Pyroptotic cells have morphological features resembling both necrosis and apoptosis but pyroptosis is a biochemically district process (Bergsbaken et al., 2009). In particular, pyroptosis is associated with antimicrobial responses evoked by immune cells. In this process, immune cells produce cytokines and die by bursting. Thus, the release of cytokines attracts other immune cells to fight the infection (Fink & Cookson, 2005). Biochemically pyroptosis is related to inflammasome activation and thus interleukin-1 (IL-1) –family cytokines (Kepp et al., 2010).

Cell viability and cytotoxic effects of PM can be assessed by methods, which measure the integrity of the cell membrane. The most common way to measure necrotic or late apoptotic cells is to use dyes, such as trypan blue or propidium iodide (PI). Normally these compounds cannot access the healthy cells. However, if the cell is damaged, those dyes will cross the cell membrane and stain the cell (Lecoeur, 2002). Alternatively, the substances that are normally only present inside cells can be measured from cell culture medium in vitro or from lavage fluids from *in vivo* experiments, revealing the impaired integrity of the cell membrane. The compound that is most commonly measured is lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) which is an enzyme present in almost all cell types and tissues. Should a tissue be badly damaged the LDH can be detected in the extracellular matrix (Fotakis & Timbrell, 2006). Cytotoxicity can also be monitored by measuring cellular metabolic activity. This is

usually done by measuring directly or indirectly the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) content of the cells (Weyermanna et al, 2005). Apoptotic cells can be detected by using the terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay where the fragmentation of DNA is detected by labeling the terminal ends of nucleic acids (Gavrieli et al., 1992). In addition, the annexin A5 probe can be used to detect apoptotic cells that express phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine on the cell surface (Vermes et al., 1995). Moreover, apoptosis can be detected by measuring proteins, which mediate this proses e.g. one widely detected protein used for this purpose is caspase-3 (Jerome et al., 2003).

2.2.1.4 Genotoxicity

Exposure to PM can result in damage to the genetic information i.e. genotoxic effects. Genotoxicity poses a risk for long term adverse effects in the human body including an increased risk for the appearance of cancers. DNA can be damaged in several ways: e.g., single- and double-strand breaks, cross-linking, base modifications, alkali-labile sites, and loss of excision repair, which may lead to gene mutations and structural chromosomal aberrations (Mazouzi et al., 2014). When a cell's DNA has been damaged, complex pathways are triggered to prevent the formation of permanent DNA changes. One of those repair options is cell cycle arrest where a cell will stop its normal division cycle to allow time repair the damaged DNA (Mahmoud et al., 2011).

standard in The vitro genotoxicity test batteries recommended by regulatory agencies to detect genotoxic carcinogens include at least two or three test procedures, such as bacterial reverse mutation test, mammalian cell chromosome damage test and mammalian cell mutation assay (Kirkland et al., 2005). The Ames test (bacterial reverse mutation test) is a commonly used procedure to detect two classes of mutations, base pair substitution and small frameshifts (Mortelmans & Zeiger, 2000) Moreover, single cell gel electrophoresis assay (SCGE) and micronucleus assay which are conducted in mammalian cell lines are sensitive and frequently used methods to detect the genotoxicity of nanoparticles (Landsiedel et al., 2009; Oesch & Landsiedel, 2012). The SCGE assay measures DNA strand breaks in single cells (Tice et al., 2000). Micronucleus assay detects that an extra nucleus has been formed during cell division (Magdolenova et al., 2014).

2.2.2 Human exposure studies with volunteers

There are still limited numbers of controlled human inhalation exposure studies available which would have investigated the adverse effects of wood smoke (summary in Table 2.). Moreover, all of the summarized experiments have examined only the short-term effects of exposure to wood smoke. In most of those studies, conventional stove or oxygen-restricted conditions have been used as a source of wood smoke emissions (Barregard et al., 2006, 2008; Stockfelt et al., 2012, 2013; Unosson et al., 2013). Generally, the responses detected from volunteers are associated with changes in systemic inflammation, blood coagulation and lipid peroxidation (Sällsten et al., 2006; Barregard et al., 2006, 2008; Danielsen et al., 2008). In addition, increases in the levels of several inflammatory markers have been detected after exposure to wood smoke (Ghio et al., 2012a). Moreover, it is claimed that arterial stiffness is increased after wood smoke exposure (Unosson et al., 2013). Many previously mentioned biomarkers are cardiovascular risk factors. However, several of the human exposure studies have been dominated by negative findings (Forchhammer et al., 2012a; Riddervold et al., 2012; Bønløkke et al., 2014).

Author and year	Subjects	Appliance	Exposure	Key findings caused by wood smoke exposure
Barregard et al., 2006, 2008	13 healthy subjects aged 20-56 (mean 34) vr. Exposure to filtered	Conventional cast-iron wood stove.	The PM _{2.5} in the chamber in the range of 240–280	 Increased SAA, factor VIII, and the factor VIII/vWf ratio in plasma and isoprostane excretion in urine.
Sällsten et al., 2006 Danielsen et al., 2008	indoor air for 4h on one occasion and to wood smoke for 4h 1wk later.	Fuel: hardwood and softwood (50%/50%), moisture content 15–18%. Constant burn rate (fuel added 2 kg wood logs every 40 min).	ug/m ³ , and number concentrations were 95000- 180000/cm ³ . About half of the particles were ultrafine.	 Up-regulated the expression of the DNA repair gene (OGG1). Significant decrease DNA strand breaks in PBMC. Increased alveolar nitric oxide 3 h post-exposure while malondialdehyde levels in breath condensate were higher both immediately after and 20 h after exposure. Increased serum Clara cell protein at 20 h after exposure.
Sehlstedt et al., 2010	19 healthy subjects aged 21-31 (mean of 24) yr. Exposure to filtered air for 3h and 3 weeks, later to wood smoke for 3h. During exposure 15-min intervals of exercise on a bicycle ergometer.	Residential wood pellet burner (15 kW) installed in a boiler. Fuel: softwood pellet/sawdust fuel mixture from pine and spruce (18% moisture). Combustion conditions: Low temperature (700-800°C) reduced air/fuel mixing.	The PM _{2.5} in the chamber was 180-300 $\mu g/m^3$ during each wood smoke exposure. Mean concentration from all exposures was 224 ± 22 $\mu g/m^3$.	 Increase in mucosal symptoms and reduced glutathione in the alveolar respiratory tract lining fluids but no acute airway inflammatory responses.
Forchhammer et al.,2012a Riddervold et al., 2012 Bønløkke et al., 2014	A randomized, double- blinded, study with 20 non-smoking atopic subjects. Exposure to filtered air for 3h and 2weeks later to wood smoke for 3h.	Modern wood stove operated with good practice.	Used mean exposure concentrations were 14, 220, or 354 µg/m ³ .	 Very limited changes after a 3-hour exposure.

Table 2. Controlled human exposure studies with volunteers
 Increased neutrophil count in the blood by 23% after exposure and at of follow-up by 17%. A significant increase in blood IL-1β immediately following wood smoke exposure. Elevated blood LDH concentrations after wood smoke exposure immediately and at follow-up. 16.8% decrease in maximal heart rate immediately following particle exposure. Increased neutrophil numbers in BALF 	 Exposure to wood smoke from the start-up caused: Increase in Clara cell protein 16 in intra- serum after 4h, and in urine the next morning. rn- • Clear diurnal variation Clara cell in protein 16. Exposure from the burn-out phase: d Increased fraction of exhaled nitric oxide. 	 Central arterial stiffness, measured as an augmentation index, augmentation pressure and pulse wave velocity, was higher after smoke exposure as compared to filtered air Heart rate was increased although there was no effect on blood pressure. Heart rate variability was decreased one hour following exposure. 	tate dehydrogenase; SAA, Serum amyloid A;
During wood smoke exposure with an average the mean PM concentration from all exposu was 485 ± 84 µg/m ³ .	Mean particle mass concentrations: 295 µg/m ³ (sta up phase), 146 µg/m ³ (bu out phase), Mea out phase), Mea number concentrations: 140 000/cm ³ ar 100 000/cm ³ , respectively.	Mean particle mass concentrations was 314 ± 38 µg/m ³ .	ted cell; LDH, Lac
Wood smoke was generated by heating an oak log on an electric element.	Conventional cast-iron wood stove. Fuel: hardwood/softwood (50%/50%). In the start-up phase session, smoke was supplied to the chamber for 12-14 min, immediately after the new wood logs were added. In the burn-out phase session, smoke was supplied for 15 min, starting 25 min after wood was added.	A common Nordic wood stove (chimney stove) in a controlled incomplete combustion firing procedure. Fuel: Birch wood logs (moisture content 16- 18%) were inserted every 5-15 min to maintain a high burn rate with repeated air-starved conditions.	MC, Peripheral blood mononuclea
Ten subjects. Exposure to filtered air for 2h and to wood smoke for 2h 3 wk later. During exposure the subjects' had 15-minute intervals of exercise and rest.	13 healthy adults. Exposed to filtered air followed by two sessions of wood smoke for 3h, 1wk apart. One session used smoke from the start-up phase of the wood-burning cycle, and the other smoke from the burn- out phase.	14 non-smoking subjects participated in a randomized, double- blind crossover study. Exposed to filtered air or wood smoke 3h during intermittent exercise. There was a 3wk period between exposures.	onchoalveolar lavage fluid; PB
Ghio et al., 2012a	Stockfelt et al., 2012, 2013	Unosson et al., 2013	Abbreviations: BALF, Bro

vWF, Von Willebrand factor; OGG1, 8-Oxoguanine glycosylase; IL, Interleukin.

2.2.3 Animal studies with wood smoke emissions

The *in vivo* wood smoke exposure studies in animal models may be divided into short-term studies where high PM doses are used or sub-acute and chronic studies with lower exposure concentrations. Wood smoke-induced effects in murine models are listed in Table 3.

Short-term exposure studies usually have a much greater exposure level than those to which the general public is exposed. However, the results from those studies may demonstrate to some extent the effects that could potentially occur as a result of lower level and longer duration exposures (Naeher et al., 2007). In high dose wood smoke exposure studies inflammatory responses are not always detected and in this respect the results differ from experiments conducted with exposure to other airborne pollutants e.g. diesel fumes (Ghio et al., 2012b). Moreover, in many studies conducted with wood smoke, there has been a dramatic reduction in macrophage activity to achieve bacterial phagocytosis and intracellular killing of gram-negative bacteria (Naeher et al., 2007). In addition, short term exposure of animals to wood smoke has been causing oxidative stress (Demling & LaLonde, 1990; Demling et al., 1994; Lalonde et al., 1994; Dubick et al., 2002). These investigations provided the first evidence that short term wood smoke exposure could produce toxic effects and alter lung properties.

Murine, sub-acute and chronic inhalations of wood smoke in concentrations relevant for ambient human exposure scenarios have induced mild inflammatory effects in the airways and also caused systemic effects as well as decreasing lung function (Burchiel et al., 2005; Tesfaigzi et al., 2005; Barrett et al., 2006; Reed et al., 2006; Seagrave et al., 2006; Naeher et al., 2007). Wood smoke PM has also been reported to be able to exacerbate allergic inflammation and allergic sensitization, and decrease the pulmonary macrophage functionality in terms of infection resistance (Tesfaigzi et al., 2005; Barrett et al., 2006; Naeher et al., 2007; Samuelsen et al., 2008; Migliaccio et al., 2013). Overall, the *in vivo* experiments indicate that wood smoke PM can induce mild inflammatory responses, cytotoxic effects, genotoxic effects, and oxidative stress, and compromise pulmonary immune defense in a way that leads to an increased susceptibility to infectious lung disease.

Author	Year	Animal model	Appliance	Exposure	Chemistry	Endpoints	Key findings
Tesfaigzi et al.,	2002	Rat (m, f): Brown Norway rat (6-7wk).	Wood stove. Fuel: <i>Pinus</i> edulis.	Whole-body: 1 or 10 mg/m ³ . 3h/d, 5d/wk for 30 or 90d. Stable burning.	Impactor: PM mass, OC, EC PAHs, many organic compounds. Gases: NO, NO _x , CO, THC.	Respiratory function tests, LPA. Histopathology: larynx and a part of the trachea, lung, nasal epithelia. BALF: cells, total protein, LDH, β-glucuronidase, IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-α.	 Reduced diffusion at alveolar- capillary membrane (dose 10 mg/m³). Increased dynamic lung compliance (both doses). Decreased number of macrophages in the BALF (dose 10 mg/m³). Minor histopathological changes.
Tesfaigzi et al.,	2005	Rat (m): Brown Norway rat (6wk). OVA sensitization.	Conventional wood stove. Fuel: mixed black oak and white oak.	Whole-body: 6h/d, 7d/wk for 70d, dose 1 mg PM/m ³ . Three- phase burn cycle.	Impactor: PM mass, OC, EC, ions, metals. Gases: NO, NO ₂ , SO ₂ , CO, THC.	Respiratory function, BALF cells, LPA, Cytokines. Histopathology: left lung, trachea, larynx nose.	 IFN-Y reduced and IL-4 levels increased in the BALF and plasma. Inflammatory lesions in the lungs.
Seagrave et al.,	2005	Rat (m, f): CDF(F-344) /CrlBR (10-12wk).	Conventional wood stove. Fuel: mixed black oak and white oak.	Whole-body: 6h/d, 7d/wk for 6mo, dose 30, 100, 300, and 1000 µg/m ³ . Three-phase burn cycle.	Impactor: PM mass, OC, EC, ions, metals. Gases: NO, NO ₂ , SO ₂ , CO, THC.	BALF: cells, total protein, LDH, β-glucuronidase, alkaline phosphatase, GSH/GSSG, IL-1β, TNF-a, MIP-2.	 Nonlinear responses: decreased total GSH in females, β-glucuronidase and MIP-2 decreased in males and females, minor increase in TNF-a in males.
Burchiel et al.,	2005	Mice (f): A/J (10-12wk).	Conventional wood stove. Fuel: Hard wood.	Whole-body: 30, 100, 300, and 1000 µg/m ³ . 6h/d, 7d/wk, for 6mo. Three-phase burn cycle.	Impactor: PM mass, OC, EC, PAHs, metals, ions. Gases: NO, CO NO2, THC.	Spleen cell mitogenesis assay and surface marker analysis on spleen cells using flow cytometry.	 Increased T cell proliferation in 100 µg/m³ exposure group. Suppression of T cell proliferation at < 300 µg/m³.

Table 3. Animal exposure studies with wood smoke emissions

 Increase in OVA-induced BALF eosinophils when OVA challenge immediately (24h) preceding wood smoke exposure (dose 300 µg/m³). 	Mild effects, even at the highest exposure concentration: • Mild responses in organ weights and lung volumes. PM accumulation in lungs. • Increase in platelets, decrease in blood urea nitrogen and serum alanine aminotransferase and alkaline phosphatase.	 Low oxygen supply increased BALF neutrophils Wood smoke caused oxidative stress and proinflammatory response. 	 Wood smoke exposure lead to higher bacterial load 24h post-exposure. Macrophages had decreased neutrophil activation potential. 	 Increased oxidative stress and antioxidant enzymes. Increase in BALF cells: macrophages, neutrophils. Lung and airway damage. 	lic aromatic hydrocarbons; LPA, arbon; IL, Interleukin; TNF, P, macrophage inflammatory tactic protein 1.
BALF: cells, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IFN-Y and IL-13. OVA-specific IgG ₁ , IgG _{2a} and IgE.	F344 rats: histopathology, clinical chemistry, and hematology. SHR rats: cardiac waveform and heart rate analysis. C57BL/6 mice: bacterial clearance. A/J mice: tumorigenesis.	BALF cells, DNA adducts, oxidative damage to DNA bases, HO-1, mRNA expression of OGG1, MCP-1 and MIP-2.	BALF: cells, total protein. Assessment of bacterial clearance.	BALF cells. ROS marker in serum and BALF. Lung histopathology.	ttal carbon; PAHs, Polycycl genase; THC, total hydroc , glutathione disulfide; MII ; MCP-1, monocyte chemol
Impactor: PM mass. Gases: NO, NO ₂ , CO, THC.	Impactor: PM mass, OC, OC ammonium, sulfate, nitrate, metals and associated elements. SO ₂ , CO, THC.	Impactor: PM mass, PAHs, metals, ions, mannosan, levoglucosan.	PAHs	PM _{2.5} , CO, CO ₂ and O ₂ .	arbon; EC, Elemer 1, lactate dehydro glutathione; GSSG anine glycosylase;
Whole-body: 30, 100, 300, and 1000 µg/m ³ . 6h/d, for 3d. Three- phase burn cycle.	Whole-body: 30, 100, 300, and 1000 µg/m ³ . 6h/d, 7d/wk, for either 1wk or 6mo. Three-phase burn cycle.	Intratracheal aspiration: 0.64 mg/kg. Exposure 24h. PM from high and low oxygen supply burning.	Whole-body: 3-15 mg/m ³ for 2h.	Whole-body: 3h/d. 2, 4 or 6 exposures.	natter; OC, Organic c colar lavage fluid; LDI eron; GSH, Reduced se 1; OGG1, 8-Oxogu
Wood stove Fuel: Oak (mixture of black and white oak).	Wood stove. Fuel: mixed black oak and white oak.	Wood stove. Fuel: Beech.	Old wood stove. Fuel: mix of local softwoods	Electric incinerator. Fuel: pine.	M, particulate n _F, bronchoalve nin; IFN, Interf Heme oxygenas
Mice (m): BALB/c (8-10 wk). OVA sensitization.	Rat (m, f): F344/CrlBR and SHR (6-12wk). Mice (m): C57BL/6 (6-12wk). Mice (m, f):A/J (6-12wk).	Rat (m): F344 (9wk).	BALB/c mice	Guinea pig	male; f, female; P. eration assays; BAI :tor; OVA, Ovalbun 10910bulin; HO-1, P.
2006	2006	2010	2013	2013	ons: m, e prolif∈ rosis fac , Immur
Barrett et al.,	Reed et al.,	Danielsen et al.,	Migliaccio et al.,	Ramos et al.,	Abbreviatic Lymphocyt Tumor neci protein; Ig,

2.2.4 *In vitro* studies conducted with wood combustion emissions particles

There is still a paucity of toxicological data from highly controlled combustion studies including physicochemical characterization of the emission PM. However, *in vitro* toxicological studies using both human and murine cell lines and primary cells have demonstrated that different toxic mechanisms are activated by emission PM, depending on the biomass combustion efficiency (Kocbach et al., 2008a,b; Danielsen et al., 2009; Jalava et al., 2010; Tapanainen et al., 2011; 2012). It is noteworthy that most of current *in vitro* data on PM originating from small-scale wood combustion appliances is based on commonly used furnaces which usually represent old or conventional combustion technologies.

It has been suspected that particles derived from different conditions may induce combustion differential proinflammatory response patterns (Karlsson et al., 2006; Jalava et al., 2010). Moreover, particles that contain high levels of soot and PAH compounds possess a greater potency for cytotoxicity and DNA damage than particles that contain more inorganic compounds (Tapanainen et al., 2011, 2012; Forchhammer et al., 2012b). There are also several studies where wood combustion derived particles have been washed with organic solvents to obtain an organic extract. Incubation of the cells with those organic extracts has led to DNA damage (Danielsen et al., 2009). There is also evidence of immunosuppression induced by particle bound PAH compounds (Tapanainen et al., 2012). The toxic effects induced by wood smoke particles on different cells are collated in Table 4.

Author	Year	Cells	Appliance	Exposure	Chemistry	End points	Key findings
Karlsson et al.,	2006	A549 Human primary macrophages.	Old wood and new boilers and pellet Wood boiler. <u>Fuel:</u>	A549 4h to 40 µg/cm² (70 µg/ml). Macrophages 18h to 50 µg/cm² (100 µg/ml).	PM extraction: Water. OC, EC, ions, metals. Gases: CO ₂ , CO, TOC.	SCGE, IL-6, IL-8, TNF-a.	 DNA damage (no difference between appliances). PM from modern wood boiler increased the IL-8 levels.
Kocbach et al.,	2008a, 2008b	THP-1 and a contact co-culture of A549 and THP-1.	Old wood stove. <u>Fuel</u> : Birch.	12h exposure, organic extracts (30 µg/ml) washed particles (140 µg/ml) and native particles (30, 70, 140, 210, 280 µg/ml).	PM extraction: scraped off from filters. OC, EC, PAHs.	LDH, TNF-q, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-4 and IL-10.	 Significant increase in TNF-a, and IL-8 by PM. Organic extract significantly increased release of TNF-a and IL-8. Washed particles: significantly lower IL-8 release than native PM. Cell death related to organic fraction.
Danielsen et al.,	2009	A549, THP-1	Old wood stove. <u>Fuel</u> : Birch.	Exposure: 24h for LDH analysis, 3h for SCGE assay, (2.5, 25, 100, 200 µg/ml). Washed PM and organic extracts.	PM extraction: scraped off from filters. PAHs, OC.	LDH, SCGE.	 DNA damage with organic extracts.
Jalava et al.,	2010	RAW 264.7	Masonry heater (old) <u>Fuel:</u> Beech.	24h exposure to 15, 50, 150,300 µg/ml. Normal/smouldering combustion.	PM ₁ extraction: methanol. Elements, ions, PAHs	Cytotoxicity (MTT-test). TNF-a, MIP-2, cell cycle.	 Smouldering combustion PM caused higher MIP-2, apoptosis and MTT response than normal combustion.
Danielsen et al.,	2011	A549, THP-1	Wood stove. <u>Fuel</u> : Birch.	24h exposure to 0, 2.5, 25, and 100 µg/ml.	PM scraped off from filters using water. Metals, PAHs.	DNA damage, proinflammatory mRNA levels, DNA adducts, ROS.	 Increased 8-oxo-gua levels, but no DNA adducts. Oxidative, inflammatory and genotoxic responses measured by mRNA.

Table 4. In vitro studies conducted with wood combustion emissions particles

 Cytotoxicity Ama stove: high response in (MTT-test), mTT-test, apoptotic cell death, cell cycle, genotoxicity. Moderate MIP-2 TNF-a, MIP-2, response. SCGE. Masonry heaters (new/old): moderate response in MTT-test, apoptotic cell death. High to moderate genotoxicity. Moderate MIP-2 and TNF-a response. Pellet boiler: moderate 	LDH, TNF-a, • Washed particles caused cytokine IL-6 and IL-8, release and organic extract cell cycle. cytotoxicity.	 Cell death: MTT- Clel death: MTT- Pligh to moderate degrease of positive cells. Cell cycle, TNF-a, MIP-2, Cell death and genotoxicity. Cell cycle, Cell death and genotoxicity. Cell cycle, Cell death and genotoxicity. Cell cycle, Cell cycle, Cell death and genotoxicity. Cell cycle, Ce	LDH, ROS, Similar effects by both fuels: SCGE, • DNA damage, oxidative stress micronucleus and IL-8 release. assay, IL-8 and uptake of PM.	ycilic aromatic hydrocarbons; TOC, total organic , lactate dehydrogenase; MIP, macrophage
PM ₁ extraction: methanol. Elements ions, PAHs, EC, OC.	PM _{2.5-0.1} , PM ₁₀ - 2.5 extraction: methanol. PAHS, elements.	PM ₁ extraction: methanol. Elements, ions, PAHs, EC, OC.	PM _{2.5} extraction: water. Elements, ions, PAHs.	bon; PAHs, Polyc rosis factor; LDH
24h exposure to 15, 50, 150 and 300 µg/ml.	12 or 40h exposure to 40 µg/cm ² . Organic extracts and washed particles.	24h exposure to 15, 50, 150 and 300 µg/ml.	3-48h exposure to 1-100 µg/ml.	oon; EC, Elemental car eukin; TNF, Tumor nec
Pellet boiler, masonry heater (New and two old) and sauna stove. <u>Fuels</u> : soft wood pellet and birch logs.	Cast-iron stove. Whole burning- cycle, <u>Fuel</u> : Birch/fir.	Logwood boilers (old/ new), Stoves (old/ new), Tiled stove, Wood chip boiler, Pellet boiler. <u>Fuels</u> : beech, hard- wood.	Pellet stove. <u>Fuels:</u> Fir or beech pellets.	DC, Organic cart presis; IL, Interle
RAW 264.7, BEAS-2B	A contact coculture A549/ THP-1.	RAW 264.7	А549, ТНР-1	iculate matter; (all gel electropho
2011 2011, 2012	2012	2012	2013	: PM, part , single ce
Ruusunen et al., Tapanainen et al.,	Bølling et al.,	Jalava et al.,	Corsini et al.,	Abbreviations carbon; SCGE

inflammatory protein; MTT, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; ROS, Reactive oxygen species; PI, Propidium iodide.

3 Aims of the study

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate how the distinctive chemical composition of particulate emissions from new and old small-scale wood combustion appliances influences the toxicity of the emissions.

The specific aims of the individual studies are listed below.

In vivo:

1. To investigate the short-term inflammation and toxic responses in lungs and serum of healthy mouse after exposure to particulate samples derived from old and new small-scale wood combustion appliances (I, II).

2. To identify the potential causative chemical compositions of wood combustion PM inducing the inflammatory and toxic responses in mouse (I, II).

In vitro:

3. To examine toxic responses in mouse macrophage cell line induced by PM emerging from different combustion conditions generated in a novel adjustable biomass combustion reactor (III).

4. To determine the toxic properties in a mouse macrophage cell line of main compounds in the PM emitted from efficient wood combustion (IV).

5. To use a mouse macrophage cell line to investigate the toxic role of Zn in efficient wood combustion PM emissions (V).

4 Materials and methods

4.1 PARTICULATE MATTER SAMPLES (I-V)

4.1.1 Particulate sampler used in campaigns

The Dekati[®] Gravimetric Impactor (DGI, Dekati Ltd, Tampere, Finland) was used for PM sample collection in this thesis. It has a high flow rate of 70 l/min and it archives high collection efficiency within relatively a short collection time, yet it is compact in size. In the sample collection setup, a porous tube diluter (PRD) was used to dilute and cool down the sample gas with minimal losses of PM (Ruusunen et al., 2011). In the impactor, the sampled particles will be divided into four size fractions (Figure 2.). In addition, a bottom filter (backup filter) is used to collect the smallest particles. The sampling system and the cut-off points of each stage when using the flow rate of 70 l/min are presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2. The stages of the DGI impactor.



4.1.2 Preparation of filter in the sampling campaigns

The backup filter (FluoroporeTM membrane filter, PTFE, 3.0 μ m, 90 mm, Millipore Corp.) was die-cut from 90 mm to 70 mm in diameter. Other 47 mm (FluoroporeTM membrane filter, PTFE, 3.0 μ m, 47mm/70mm, Millipore Corp.) filters were unaltered. Before sampling, all PTFE filters were washed with methanol (J. T. Baker HPLC grade, Deventer, The Netherlands), dried at +50 °C for 3 h and weighed in an analytical balance (Mettler Toledo XP 105DR, Mettler-Toledo Inc., Columbus, OH, USA). The dried substrates were packed in petri slides/dishes and the larger petri dishes were sealed with parafilm. The sets of substrates were stored at room temperature prior to DGI sampling.

4.1.3 Particulate sampling campaigns

wood The small-scale combustion appliances and corresponding combustion quality are presented in Table 5. All of the PM samplings from combustion experiments were performed in a laboratory environment. In studies I and II, particle sampling was conducted in Graz University of Technology, Austria. The furnaces represented both old and new wood combustion technologies (Kelz et al., 2010; Brunner & Obernberger, 2009). In studies III-V, PM collections were conducted in University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland. Study III was done using an adjustable solid-fuel biomass combustion reactor with a moving step-grate burner (Leskinen et al., 2014). Study V was conducted using a pellet boiler (Biotech GmbH, model PZ-RL 25) (Lamberg et al., 2011). The pellet boiler was operated using optimal settings. In study IV, PM was generated by using flame spray pyrolysis (FSP) (Mädler et al., 2002). Table 6 shows the precursors and detected products.

Appliance	Nominal output	Fuel	Combustion quality	Study
Log wood boiler OT	15 kW	Beech	Smouldering	I, II
Log wood boiler NT	30 kW	Beech	Intermediate	I, II
Stove OT	6.5 kW	Beech	Incomplete	I, II
Stove NT	6 kW	Beech	Incomplete	I, II
Tiled stove NT	4.2 kW	Beech	Intermediate	I, II
Woodchip boiler NT	30 kW	Hard-wood	Efficient	I, II
Pellet boiler NT	21 kW	Hard-wood	Efficient	I, II
Moving step-grate burner	40 kW	Wood chips from spruce and broadleaved trees	Efficient, intermediate and smouldering	III, IV
Pellet boiler	25 kW	Sawdust from pine stem wood, added Zn 0, 170, 480 or 2300 mg/kg	Efficient	V

Table 5. Different small-scale wood combustion appliances and corresponding used combustion situations. Batch combustion in stoves included all batches and burning phases.

Abbreviations: OT, old technology; NT, new technology. Note. Combustion quality was determined using appendix 1.

Precursor solute	K-cetylacetonate	Dimethylsulfoxide	Zn-acetate dihydrate
Formula	$C_5H_7O_2K$	C ₂ H ₆ OS	$C_4H_{10}O_6Zn \bullet 2H_2O$
Concentration	mmol/l	mmol/l	mmol/l
End product			
ZnO	[-]	[-]	30
K+S+Zn	20	80	0.6
K+S	20	80	[-]
К	100	[-]	[-]

Table 6. Precursor solution compositions used in flame spray pyrolysis particle synthesis (IV).

4.1.4 Sample extraction for chemical and toxicological analysis The sampled PTFE were weighed and subsequently extracted with HPLC grade methanol for 2 x 30 min in a water bath sonicator (FinnSonic m20, Finnsonic Oy, Lahti, Finland) at below +35 °C. The methanol extracts from the particulate-loaded substrates (Stages 2, 1 and backup filter) of each campaign were pooled to form the PM1 sample and excess methanol was evaporated at +35 °C in a rotary evaporator (Heidolph Laborota 4000, Schwabach, Germany) attached to a vacuum pump set at 150 mbar. The concentrated suspension was divided into 10 ml KIMAX glass tubes as the defined amount of particulate mass and dried under nitrogen (99.5%) flow. The resultant dried samples were stored at -20 °C prior to the subsequent animal or cell culture studies and chemical analysis. The same procedure as utilized with particulate samples was adopted in the preparation of the corresponding blank filters (Tapanainen et al., 2011). The extraction efficiency was determined by weighing randomly selected substrates and calculating the removed mass from the substrates.

4.1.5 Characterization of the particles

4.1.5.1 PAH analysis

A total of 30 PAH compounds were analyzed by using a gas chromatograph mass spectrometer (6890N GC, equipped with 5973 inert Mass Selective Detector, Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). A HP-17-MS column was used for the separation of the compounds. The equipment was operated with selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode. The analysis was carried out as described by Lamberg et al. (2011). The detection limit of the method was 0.1 ng/mg. The sum of the known genotoxic PAH compounds was calculated according to WHO (1998).

4.1.5.2 Element and ion analysis

In studies I and II, the determination of the chemical composition (Si, Ca, Mg, Mn, K, Na, Zn, S) of PM₁ samples was conducted by pressurized multi-step digestion of the samples with HNO₃/HF/H₃BO₃ by Paar Multiwave 3000 (Anton Paar GmbH, Graz, Austria) before the elemental detection with ICP-OES or ICP-MS. The Cl concentration was measured by bomb combustion in oxygen and absorption in NaOH with ion chromatography (ICS 90 Dionex).

In studies III-V, elements (Al, As, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Mg, Mn, Na, Ni, Pb, Se, Sr, V, and Zn) and ions (Cl⁻, Br⁻, F⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻ and NH₄⁺) were determined from the PM₁ samples using HF-HNO₃ acid and deionized water. The elements were analyzed with an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (ICP-MS, Agilent 7700; method EN ISO 17294-2) and ions were analyzed with ion chromatograph (IC, Compact 882 ICplus; anion colon Metrosep A SUPP5-150/4.0; method EN ISO 10304-1/2) system.

4.1.5.3 Carbon analysis

In studies I and II, the contents of different carbon compounds including OC, EC and IC in the aerosol samples were determined with a carbon/hydrogen analyzer (LECO RC-612). The sample was inserted into a quartz tube that was heated to pre-defined temperatures. The temperatures ranged from ambient temperature up to +950 °C. Carbon containing compounds released from the sample were oxidized to CO₂, which was selectively detected by infrared sensors. Carbon released in a temperature range from +200 to +600 °C under an inert atmosphere was designed as OC, carbon released between +600 and +900 °C was considered as IC and carbon detected after switching to oxidizing conditions was defined as EC.

In studies III-V, OC and EC were analyzed from the PM₁ samples collected on the quartz filters from the diluted flue gas. The sampling was carried out using a porous tube diluter and ejector diluter in series, the sampling setup has been previously described in more detail by Torvela et al. (2014). The analyses

were performed with a thermal-optical carbon analyzer (model 4 L, Sun Laboratories Inc.) with the NIOSH-protocol (NIOSH, 1999).

4.1.5.3 Transmission electron microscopy analysis

In studies IV and V, transmission electron microscopy (TEM, JEM 2100F, JEOL Ltd) and energy dispersive X-ray spectrometry (EDS, NS7 Thermo Scientific) were used in the analysis of single-particle morphology and composition. The samples for TEM were collected from diluted flue gas on a holey carbon copper grid (Agar Scientific Inc., S147-400 Holey Carbon Film 400 Mesh Cu) with an aspiration sampler (Lyyränen et al., 2009).

4.2 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN (I-V)

4.2.1 In vivo (I, II)

4.2.1.1 Sample preparation

The dry particulate and blank samples were thawed and stabilized to room conditions for 30 min. Thereafter, 32 μ l of DMSO (Uvasol[®], Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) was added to 10 mg of particulate mass or to the corresponding blank sample and the sample was suspended by mixing with a glass rod. Then, 968 μ l of pathogen-free water (W1503, Sigma-Aldrich Corp., St. Louis, MO, USA) was added and the sample was sonicated for 30 min in a water-bath sonicator (Finnsonic m03, Finnsonic Oy, Lahti, Finland). The suspension was diluted in pathogen-free water to obtain final concentrations of 0.5, 1.5, 5 and 7.5 mg/ml to be used in the animal exposures on the subsequent day. The blank sample was diluted in an equal volume of pathogen-free water to ensure that the vehicle of particulate suspension and possible impurities in methanol extraction were not the sources of the toxicity.

4.2.1.2 Animals

Pathogen-free male C57Bl/6J mice, 8- to 9 week-old (weight 22.3 \pm SEM 0.09 g) were used in all of the *in vivo* studies. The animals were obtained from the breeding colony of the Laboratory Animal Center of the University of Eastern Finland. They were transferred from a barrier unit to a conventional animal room two weeks before the experiments. After a one-week acclimatization period, the animals were transferred into metal cages and they were housed singly on aspen wood chips and had access to water and maintenance diet ad libitum. The animals were kept on a 12 h light/dark cycle (7 a.m. to 7 p.m.) at room temperature (22 \pm 1 °C) and relative humidity of 55 \pm 15% (mean ± SD). The National Animal Experiment Board (Eläinkoelautakunta, ELLA) approved all of the in vivo experiments and they were carried out in accordance with EU Directive, 2010/63/EU for animal experiments. All the tested samples and toxicological end-points are summarized in Table 7.

4.2.1.3 Exposure method and dose

Prior to intratracheal aspiration exposure, the mice were anesthetized with vaporized 4.5% sevoflurane (Abbott, IL, USA) and placed in a 66° upward bent position with the incisors placed held by thin wire. The administration of particles was performed under visual control with the tongue gently pulled out with forceps to prevent the mouse from swallowing. The sample was delivered onto the vocal folds with a pipette tip. The nostrils were covered forcing the mouse to inspire the particle suspension (1, 3, 10 or 15 μ g/kg). No signs of lung overloading with the largest mass dose (15 μ g/kg) were observed. Moreover, the doses used in this study were not higher than those usually used to induce inflammatory responses in the rodent lungs (Adamson et al., 1999; Walters et al., 2001; Schins et al., 2004, Gerlofs-Nijland et al., 2005).

4.2.1.4 BALF and blood collection

At the pre-defined time point, the mice were anesthetized with pentobarbital (60 mg/kg) and exsanguinated by cardiac puncture. The collected blood was centrifuged (1900g, 8 min) for the separation (Capiject T-MG, Terumo, MD) of serum which was frozen (-80 °C) prior to subsequent cytokine analysis. The lungs were perfused with sterile saline. Thereafter, the trachea was cannulated with polyethylene tubing and the lungs were lavaged with two portions of sterile saline (30 ml/kg), three times each. These two portions of BALF were combined and kept on ice.

4.2.1.5 Experiments

Study I contained both a dose-response screening of the particulate samples with two selected appliances and a timecourse investigation of some inflammatory parameters from BALF (Table 7.). In study II, more extensive cytokine and chemokine battery was investigated from the BALF and serum of the mice at two time points (Table 7.).

Study	Samples	Dose	n	Time-	Markers
number		(mg/kg)		points (h)	
Dose response					
I	Untreated animal	-	4	4, 18	From BALF:
	Pathogen-free water	50 µl/animal	4	4, 18	Total protein,
	Blank	10	8	4, 18	LDH, IL-0, MIP-2
	Diesel*	10	6	4, 18	
	Urban air $PM_{10-2.5}$ **	10	3	4, 18	
	LPS	40 µg/animal	3	4, 18	
	Logwood boiler OT	1, 3, 10, 15	6/dose	4, 18	
	Woodchip boiler NT	1, 3, 10, 15	6/dose	4, 18	
Histopathology					
I	Untreated animal	-	6	24	Histopathology:
	Blank	10	6	24	Inflammatory
	Logwood boiler OT	10	6	24	changes, particulate
	Logwood boiler NT	10	6	24	matter
	Stove OT	10	6	24	accumulation
	Stove NT	10	6	24	
	Tiled stove NT	10	6	24	
	Woodchip boiler NT	10	6	24	
	Pellet boiler NT	10	6	24	
Inflammation					
I, II	Blank	10	6	4, 18	From BALF:
	Pathogen-free water	50 µl/animal	3	4, 18	Total cell
	Logwood boiler OT	10	6	4, 18	number, cell differentials.
	Logwood boiler NT	10	6	4, 18	total protein,
	Stove OT	10	6	4, 18	LDH, SCGE
	Stove NT	10	6	4, 18	From serum
	Tiled stove NT	10	6	4, 18	апа вась: 11-18 11-12
	Woodchip boiler NT	10	6	4, 18	IFN-γ, IL-6, KC,
	Pellet boiler NT	10	6	4, 18	IL-10, TNF-a

Table 7. Used samples and analyzed markers in in vivo experiments

Abbreviations: PM, particulate matter; OT, old technology; NT, new technology; BALF, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; SCGE, single cell gel electrophoresis; TNF, Tumor necrosis factors; MIP, macrophage inflammatory protein; LPS, Lipopolysaccharides; INF, Interferon; KC, Keratinocyte-derived chemokine. *Diesel from Ruusunen et al. (2011); **Athens PM from Happo et al. (2007)

4.2.2 In vitro (III-V)

4.2.2.1 Sample preparation

Half an hour before the exposure, PM_1 samples were dispersed into DMSO (20 µl/mg) (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) by mixing with a glass rod. Thereafter pyrogen free water (W1503, Sigma-Aldrich Corp., St. Louis, MO, USA) was added to achieve a final PM concentration of 5 mg/ml. The PM₁ samples were then kept in an ultrasonic water bath (FinnSonic M03, FinnSonic Ltd., Lahti, Finland) for 30 min.

4.2.2.2 Cell line

RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages (ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA) were cultured in a humid atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and +37 °C in RPMI culture medium with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (Gibco, Paisley, UK), 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco, Paisley, UK) and 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, Paisley, UK). Prior to the exposure experiments, the cells were seeded at a density of 5×10^5 cells/ml in 6-well plates (2 ml/well, Corning Inc., New York, USA) and grown for 24 h. One hour before the exposure, fresh complete culture medium was added to the wells.

4.2.2.3 Experiments

Mouse macrophages were exposed to the same mass doses (15, 50, 150 and 300 μ g/ml) of particles for 24 h in each study (III-V). Exposures of the cells to the particulate samples were conducted in three independent experiments. All experiments included DMSO (concentration 0.3 % v/v), blank substrate (dose 150 μ g/ml) and the pyrogen-free water (dose 150 μ g/ml) controls. After the 24 h exposure, the macrophages were scraped from the wells with a cell lifter (Corning Inc., New York, USA) and a sample was taken for the MTT test. The cell suspension was centrifuged (8000 rpm, 5 min, +4 °C) to separate the cells and particles from the cell culture medium. The supernatant was stored at -80 °C for the analysis of inflammatory mediators. The cells were suspended into 1 ml of PBS (Gibco, Paisley, UK) and were used in the PI-exclusion assay, fixed with ethanol (70% v/v, Altia, Finland) or used in single cell gel electrophoresis. All the used PM samples and toxicological endpoints are summarized in Table 8.

Study	Samples	Dose (µg/ml)	Time-point (h)	Markers
III, IV, V				
	Water	150	24	PI-exclusion assay,
	DMSO	3.6	24	ROS, TNF-a, MIP-2
	Blank	150	24	
	Diesel*	150	24	
III				
	Efficient	15, 50, 150, 300	24	MTT, cell cycle,
	Intermediate	15, 50, 150, 300	24	SCGE, ROS, TNF-a, MIP-2
	Smouldering	15, 50, 150, 300	24	-,
IV				
	ZnO	15, 50, 150, 300	24	PI-exclusion assay,
	K+S	15, 50, 150, 300	24	TNF-a
	K+S+Zn	15, 50, 150, 300	24	
	К	15, 50, 150, 300	24	
	Efficient	15, 50, 150, 300	24	
V				
	Native	15, 50, 150, 300	24	PI-exclusion assay,
	Zn-low	15, 50, 150, 300	24	ROS, TNF-a, MIP-2
	Zn-medium	15, 50, 150, 300	24	
	Zn-high	15, 50, 150, 300	24	

Table 8. Used samples and end-points in in vitro experiments.

Abbreviations: DMSO, Dimethyl sulfoxide; PI, propidium iodide; SCGE, single cell gel electrophoresis; ROS, reactive oxygen species; MTT, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; TNF, Tumor necrosis factors; MIP, macrophage inflammatory protein.

*Diesel from Ruusunen et al. (2011)

4.3 TOXICOLOGICAL ANALYSIS (I-V)

4.3.1 Tissue damage and cell death

4.3.1.1 LDH and protein measurement (I, II)

In the *in vivo* studies, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity and protein concentration were analyzed from fresh BALF supernatants. LDH was analyzed by using a cytotoxicity detection kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total protein was analyzed by using a DC Protein Assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, California, USA). The concentrations of LDH and total proteins were spectrophotometrically measured from 96-well plates at wavelengths of 492 nm and 690 nm, respectively (PerkinElmer Victor³).

4.3.1.2 MTT-assay (III)

In the *in vitro* study the metabolic competence of the RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages was determined using the MTT-assay in 96-well-plates and calculated as a percentage of absorption of exposed cells as compared to unexposed control cells. To ensure methodological reliability, absorptions of emission particles only, vehicle controls (DMSO in pyrogen free water) and blank controls were also measured. The MTT assay measures the colored compound, formazan, which is metabolized from MTT [3(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-bromide 2,5-dephenyltetrazolium]. The maximum absorbance was read at 570 nm using Victor³ Multilabel Counter (PerkinElmer, MA, USA) (Tapanainen et al., 2011).

4.3.1.3 PI exclusion method (IV, V)

In the *in vitro* studies the total amount of PI positive RAW 264.7 cells, was assayed using flow cytometry (CyAnTM ADP Analyzer, Beckman Coulter, CA, USA). The cells were washed once with PBS before labeling them with PI (0.5 ml PBS, 1 μ g/ml PI) for 15 min at room temperature in the dark. Thereafter, the cells were immediately analyzed using the excitation at 488 nm and emission at 613 ± 20 nm (channel FL 3). A total of 12 000 cells were analyzed for their PI content using Summit software version 4.3 (Beckman Coulter, CA, USA) (Jalava et al., 2012).

4.3.1.4 Cell cycle analysis (III-V)

In the *in vitro* studies, the cell cycle phase of the RAW 264.7 cells was determined by PI staining of the permeabilized cells. Cells fixed in 70% ethanol were centrifuged (400 g, 10 min), the supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was re-suspended in PBS. The cell suspension was treated for 1 h with 0.15 mg/ml ribonuclease A at +50 °C before adding PI to a final concentration of 8 µg/ml. The cells were then incubated for another 2 h at +37 °C in the dark before analyzing them with a flow cytometer, excitation at 488 nm and emission at 613 ± 20 nm (Channel FL3, CyAnTM ADP Analyzer, Beckman Coulter, CA, USA). A total of 12 000 cells were analyzed for their PI content using Summit software version 4.3 (Beckman Coulter, CA, USA). Cells that contained fragmented DNA were labeled as apoptotic (SubG₁) (Nicoletti et al., 1991; Darzynkiewicz et al., 1992). Possible interference with the method by the emission particles was also tested and found to be insignificant.

4.3.2 Measurement of inflammation (I-V)

4.3.2.1 BALF cells (I, II)

In the animal studies, BALF cells were separated by centrifugation (500 g, 10 min) and the supernatant was removed for further analysis. The separated cell pellet was re-suspended into 220 μ l of sterile saline prior to cell counting. The total cell number and share of dead cells were microscopically counted from each sample by using a Bürker chamber and the trypan blue exclusion method. The remaining cell suspension was used for differential counting of cells by cytospin (210 μ l, 500 rpm, 8 min; Megafuge, Heraeus Instruments, Germany). The slides were fixed with May-Grünwald–Giemsa dye. In the analysis of cell differential, at least 300 cells were counted from each stained cytospin slide by using a light microscope (Zeiss Axio Observer Z1). The mean percentages for macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes and other types of white blood cells were calculated.

4.3.2.2 Histopathology (I)

The lungs of the animals that were not lavaged for BALF collections were used in the histopathological examination. Lungs were removed and filled with 10% phosphate buffered formalin, which was also used in the preservation of the tissue samples. Thereafter, the lungs were trimmed and embedded in paraffin and cut at 5 μ m sections. After cutting, the tissues were stained with hematoxylin and eosin for the subsequent examination. The sections of both left and right lungs were examined under a light microscope. Lesions were semi-quantitatively scored as follows: 0 = absent, 1 = minimal, 2 = slight, 3 = moderate and 4 = marked. The same scoring system was applied to the particulate matter accumulation in the lumen of bronchi and/or peribronchial area and/or in alveoli. All tissue samples were analyzed and scored by the same, experienced pathologist.

4.3.2.3 ELISA method for cytokine analysis (I, III-V)

In *in vivo* study I, interleukin-6 (IL-6) and macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2) concentrations were analyzed from BALF of the animals. Cytokine analysis were made with commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cytokine concentrations were spectrophotometrically measured from 96-well plates at a wavelength of 450 nm (PerkinElmer Victor³) and determined by interpolation from the standard curve using WorkOut2TM software (version 2.0, Dazdaq, UK). In the *in vitro* studies III and V, MIP-2 and TNF- α and in study IV TNF- α was measured from cell culture medium as described above.

4.3.2.4 Electrochemiluminescence method for cytokine analysis (II)

In the *in vivo* study II, the MSD multiplex Mouse ProInflammatory 7-Plex Assay (Ultra-Sensitive Kit K15012C, Meso Scale Discovery) for mouse IL-1 β , IL-12, IFN- γ , IL-6, KC, IL-10, TNF- α cytokines, and chemokines was performed by using SectorTM Imager 2400A. The assay was arranged as follows: calibration curves were prepared in the supplied assay diluent (mouse serum samples) or 0.9% NaCl solution with 1% BSA (BALF samples), in a range of 10,000–2.4 pg/ml. Cytokine and chemokine concentrations in the samples were determined with Discovery Workbench 2006[®] (3.0.18) software, using the software's curve fitting model.

4.3.3 Genotoxicity and ROS analysis

4.3.3.1 Genotoxicity (I, III, V)

The single cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) assay was used to determine DNA damage caused by the PM₁ samples both in BALF cells *in vivo* and RAW 264.7 macrophages *in vitro*. The alkaline version of the assay was conducted according to the original version of Singh et al. (1988). The analysis of DNA migration was conducted on ethidium bromide stained microscope slides (100 nucleoids per analysis) using the Comet assay IV (Perceptive Instruments Ltd., UK) image analysis software. The comet parameter used for statistical analysis was olive tail moment (OTM) [(tail mean – head mean) × tail%DNA/100].

4.3.2.2 ROS analysis (III-V)

The intracellular accumulation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species inside RAW 264.7 macrophages was measured by flow cytometry using logarithmic FL-1 channel. During the last 30 min of the incubation, RAW 264.7 cells were loaded with 1 μ M 2',7'dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCFDA; Molecular Probes, Invitrogen Corp. Carlsbad, CA) in PBS. After a 30-min incubation period, the cells were washed with PBS, harvested, centrifuged, and washed one more time with 1 ml of PBS. The cell pellet was suspended in 1 ml of PBS and the fluorescence signal of 2',7'- dichlorodihydrofluorescein (DCF) was analyzed in a flow cytometer. A total of 12 000 events were analyzed per sample using the Summit software version 4.3. The percentage of DCF positive cells was determined using Summit software's overlay option. The histogram overlay was performed using water treated cells as the negative control.

4.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (I-V)

4.4.1 In vivo (I, II)

All the measured values were first analyzed with Levene's test for equality of variances. Statistical differences in the measured BALF and serum parameters between the particulate sampletreated animals and blank sample treated control animals were determined with an analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Dunnett's post-hoc test. In cases where Levene's test gave values < 0.05, the Kruskal–Wallis test was used. The differences in data were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.05. Differences between the heating appliances were tested with Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) or Dunnett's C test. The extent of histopathological lesions in the mouse lungs was tested for statistical significance by using two-tailed Mann-Whitney test (p < 0.05). The results of the SCGE assay were analyzed using Student's t-test (p < 0.05). All the measured values were analyzed with Spearman's rank correlation (two-tailed) to examine the linear relationships between the variables. Correlation coefficients (0) between the different variables were regarded as statistically significant at p < 0.05 level. The correlation analysis between chemical constituents and measured responses were conducted at the time point showing the clearest differences between the animal groups. All the data were analyzed using the SPSS statistics version 17.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL) or IBM SPSS statistics 19.0 (IBM[®], New York, NY).

4.4.1 *In vitro* (III-V)

The measured responses were compared to the control and to the corresponding blank samples with regard to particle doses. Levene's test for equality of variances was used for all the samples before analyzing the data with ANOVA. Dunnett's post hoc test was used when results from the production of the inflammatory mediators or the MTT test (n = 6) were analyzed. The results from the SCGE, ROS analysis, PI-exclusion and cell cycle analysis were evaluated by the non-parametric KruskalWallis test (n = 3). ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test were used in the analysis of differences between the combustion particles. Differences were considered to be statistically significant at p < 0.05. The data were statistically analyzed with IBM SPSS Statistics 19.0 (IBM[®], New York, NY).

5 Results and discussion

5.1 IN VIVO STUDIES (I, II)

5.1.1 Chemical composition of the particulate samples (I, II)

The small-scale furnaces included in this study were as follows: pellet boiler (NT), wood chip boiler (NT), tiled stove (NT), logwood boiler (NT), stove (NT), log wood boiler (OT) and stove (OT). The chemical composition of the particle samples from animal studies (I, II) is presented in Table 9. The inorganic ash components were enriched in the emission samples from the NT continuous combustion furnaces (pellet and wood chip boiler), which had also the highest combustion efficiencies (Brunner & Obernberger, 2009; Kelz et al., 2010). In particular, there were substantial differences in the Zn concentrations between the pellet boiler and other appliances. In addition, the concentrations of other alkaline (K and Na) and transition metals (Mg, Cd and Mn) were higher in the PM samples from NT appliances. Moreover, the amounts of chloride and sulfur, which usually form metal chlorides and sulfates in combustion particles, were also enriched in the NT samples. In contrast, PAH concentrations were substantially higher in the emissions from OT furnaces. The PAHs followed the OC and EC concentrations in the emission samples.

On the basis of many previous studies, the detected changes in compound concentrations can be considered to be indicative of the combustion efficiency (e.g. Tissari et al., 2008). It is clear that the inorganic ash compounds predominate when there is almost complete combustion whereas organic as well as carbonaceous compounds are present in greater amounts in conditions of incomplete combustion (Tissari et al., 2008; Sippula et al., 2009; Lamberg et al., 2011, 2013). Substantial differences in the burnout qualities of OT and NT appliances were detected and those also affected the chemical composition of emissions. Modern technology appliances had the lowest PM₁ (mg/MJ) and the old technology appliances had clearly the highest PM₁ (mg/MJ) emissions (I, Table 1.). Many previous *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that wood combustion PM from different combustion conditions induces highly variable toxic effects (Tapanainen et al., 2011, 2012; Jalava et al., 2012). However, there are an extremely limited number of animal studies dealing with toxicity of PM emissions from new technology wood combustion appliances. Thus far, new and old technology wood combustion appliance-derived PM has not been studied as extensively with *in vivo* models as conducted in this thesis.

Compound	LogOT	Stove0T	StoveNT	LogNT	Tiled	Woodchip	Pellet
EC	190000	420000	280000	50000	220000	50000	50000
OC	170000	150000	400000	70000	150000	120000	100000
Total PAHs	35000	64000	4000	3300	1800	220	1200
Ca	1140	780	1640	1780	2440	3000	4130
Cd	6	6	17	11	28	22	106
Cl	3820	6640	14400	13900	16500	15000	50300
К	19700	25500	30700	242000	175000	210000	288000
Mg	90	70	160	400	360	690	620
Mn	30	30	30	130	70	830	1830
Na	1960	1710	2910	3490	6380	3330	9720
S	3290	6310	6130	43600	51600	60400	101000
Zn	250	480	590	1520	3230	4450	25900

Table 9. Amounts of the chemical constituents (ng/mg) in particles emitted from the seven small-scale wood combustion appliances.

Abbreviations: OT, old technology; NT, new technology; EC, Elemental carbon; OC, Organic carbon; PAHs, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.

5.1.2 Pulmonary responses to particulate samples (I, II)

5.1.2.1 Inflammatory mediator responses (II)

The inflammatory responses assessed as cytokine and chemokine concentrations in BALF were detected rapidly after wood smoke PM exposure. At the 4 h time point, proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 and chemokine keratinocytederived chemokine (KC) responded to woodchip and pellet boiler PM exposure (Figure 3.). At the later time point (18 h), the IL-6 response was already diminishing but KC levels remained at the same or even higher levels as measured at 4 h after the exposure. Moreover, IL-1 β concentrations reached a statistically significant level 18 h after the PM exposure from the NT stove and tiled stove. Cytokine responses seemed to be dependent on the combustion efficiency. The PM emitted from the OT stove and logwood boiler did not induce any changes in cytokine concentrations. Instead, almost all of the particles from the NT appliances induced statistically significant increases in cytokine production. The detected inflammatory mediator responses in mouse BALF were at a much lower level than those seen in studies with urban air PM samples (Happo et al., 2007, 2008). However, even these minor inflammatory effects indicate that from small-scale wood PM combustion possesses physicochemical properties that can promote inflammation in murine lungs. Chemical analysis of present PM samples showed that high combustion efficiency leads to an enrichment of metals in emission. Indeed, the NT stove, the woodchip boiler and the pellet boiler samples contained the high concentrations of transition metals (e.g. Cd, Mg, Zn).

Findings of high inflammatory responses with metal rich wood combustion PM samples are in agreement with the previous work of Adamson et al., (1999) and Dick et al., (2003); these works examined the cytokine responses and neutrophil infiltration in the lungs of mice after exposure to ambient air PM containing high metal concentrations. With respect to the single components of emission samples, Zn has been shown to have important role in determining the pulmonary cell reactivity to inhaled particles (Adamson et al., 2000; Wallenborn et al., 2009) and oxidative stress response in lungs (Gurgueira et al., 2002; Tao et al., 2003). Moreover, soot rich wood smoke particulate samples as well as inhaled wood smoke from conventional stoves have been associated with relatively low inflammatory activity in the *in vivo* studies (Reed et al., 2006; Seagrave et al., 2005, 2006) as well as in *in vitro* experiments (Karlsson et al., 2006; Jalava et al., 2007; Kocbach et al., 2008a,b). This could be due to an immunosuppressive effect caused by the PAH compounds leading to lower inflammatory responses in mouse lungs.

Particle-induced inflammation has been postulated to be one important mechanisms for increased of the human cardiovascular risk (Anderson et al., 2012). Indeed, in this thesis elevated inflammation mediator levels were measured in mice after exposure to PM from NT wood combustion appliances. In particular increased levels of IL-6 could be linked to human exposures of PM (van Eeden et al., 2001; Anderson et al., 2012). Those results clearly indicate that the chemistry of PM is one important factor behind toxic effects. Moreover, insolubility and surface properties of particles may play an important role in determining the types of inflammation response detected. However, sub-acute or chronic toxicity was not evaluated. In those experimental setups, soot rich samples may evoke detectable effects by PM accumulation induced chronic inflammation or genotoxicity.



Figure 3. IL-6 (**A**), KC (**B**) and IL-1 β (**C**) concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) at 4 and 18 h after intratracheal aspiration of a single dose (10 mg/kg) of particulate samples from heating appliances or the corresponding blank sample in healthy C57Bl/6J mice. Each bar shows mean ± SEM (n = 5–6). The asterisks indicate statistically significant differences from the blank control (Dunnett's C-test, p < 0.05). Abbreviations: OT, old technology; NT, new technology; IL, Interleukin; KC, Keratinocyte-derived chemokine.

5.1.2.2 Cells (I, II)

Particles collected from the seven different combustion appliances had no major effect on inflammatory cells present in the lungs of the mice (Figure 4.). However, the numbers of macrophages and neutrophils changed to some extent at the later 18-h time point (Figure 4.). Indeed, the neutrophil counts seemed to increase after dosing PM from the OT and NT stoves as well as from the NT logwood boiler, the tiled stove, the wood chip boiler and the pellet boiler. However, only particles collected from the tiled stove induced a statistically significant neutrophil infiltration in mouse lung (II, Table 3.). At the same time, macrophage numbers were declined with most of the PM samples, and with the pellet boiler sample this decrease reached a statistically significant level (II, Table 3.).

These findings are in line with many previous *in vivo* studies with wood combustion particles, which have observed only a minor influx of inflammatory cells into the lungs after exposure to PM (Seagrave et al., 2005; Tesfaigzi et al., 2005; Danielsen et al., 2010). Moreover, there is evidence that the numbers of macrophages decreased in rat BALF after exposure to wood combustion emissions (Tesfaigzi et al., 2002). In that study, it was hypothesized that macrophages may adhere strongly in the lungs after wood smoke exposure. However, also some other mechanisms may be responsible for the reduction in the numbers of macrophages in BALF e.g. apoptotic or necrotic cell death.

One of the earliest responses encountered in host defense during acute pulmonary inflammation after exposure to particulate matter is the production of cytokines and chemokines by the alveolar macrophages, respiratory epithelial cells and neutrophils (Oberdörster et al., 2002). According to the previous *in vivo* findings on acute phase inflammatory responses, the early 4 h time point was chosen as suitable for assessing the levels of cytokines and cells in BALF after particulate exposure (Happo et al., 2007). However, only slight or negligible cytokine and cell responses were detected in the present study. The low cytokine and chemokine responses may also explain the relatively small number of infiltrated neutrophils in the lungs at the subsequent 18 h time point. It is possible that the soot rich emissions from OT boiler and stove were more insoluble and thus had very local inflammatory activity which was not manifested in this short term study. However, soot has been previously demonstrated to induce oxidative stress in murine lungs in short-term inhalation exposures studies (Chan et al., 2013; Chuang et al., 2013). Endpoints, which could detect oxidative stress, were not measured in the present study. In contrast, samples from NT appliances, which probably contained highly soluble metal sulfates and chlorides as well as insoluble metal oxides were able to induce detectable cytokine and neutrophil influx in mouse lungs. Transition metals are known to be capable of producing ROS on metal oxide surfaces as well as when the metals exist as free ions (Sarkar et al., 2014). It is possible that the solubility differences between PM derived from different combustion conditions were responsible for the differences in cell migration into lungs of mice. Those results support the epidemiological findings where a relationship has been found between ambient air transition metal concentrations and the measured adverse health outcomes (e.g. Lippmann & Chen, 2009).



Figure 4. Total cell number in BALF from C57Bl/6J mice at 4 h (**A**) and 18 h (**B**) after intratracheal aspiration of a single dose (10 mg/kg) of particulate samples from seven heating appliances or blank sample. Each bar shows mean (n = 5-6). Abbreviations: OT, old technology; NT, new technology.
5.1.3 Relationships between toxic responses *in vivo* and the chemical composition of the samples

The values of the correlations coefficients (Spearman's o) between the selected chemical constituents of the particle samples and the detected responses in BALF and serum are shown in Table 10. With respect to the PM₁ samples, both positive and negative statistically significant correlations were detected between the chemical constituents and the detected toxicological parameters. The associations between the constituents and the IL-1 β or neutrophil counts displayed no statistically significant difference. In general, inorganic elements were associated with increased inflammation as well as genotoxicity. Moreover, the OC concentration which also includes PAH compounds correlated negatively with the inflammatory markers and genotoxicity. The concentrations of two alkali metals (Na and K) and one alkaline earth metal (Ca) as well as transition metals (Mg, Mn, Zn and Cd) displayed positive correlations with those of the inflammatory markers. In addition, the amount of sulfur and chlorine levels, i.e. elements that usually form metal chlorides and sulfates in combustion particles (Tissari et al., 2008; Sippula et al., 2009) had also positive correlation with the levels of inflammation and genotoxic markers. The correlation analysis between chemical constituents and measured responses were conducted at the time point showing the clearest differences between the animal groups. Due to the low response levels, the calculated correlations need to be assessed with some caution. This is particularly the case, with the OT samples, where some measured cytokine values were below the detection limit. Moreover, in some cases, there was a lack of statistical significance between the blank control and the evoked response (e.g. total protein and SCGE). However, most of the correlations detected are good in agreement with those reported in previous studies.

There was a positive correlation with transition metals and SCGE result. Previously, in a study conducted with the same combustion emission particles, it was found that increased concentrations of PAH compounds were related to significant primary genotoxicity in mouse macrophages (Jalava et al., 2012). In contrast, in the present *in vivo* experiment, the extend of DNA damage was found to correlate with ash related constituents instead of with the level of OC. It has been shown that PAHs can be very tightly bound to carbon black (Borm et al., 2005), and therefore their bioavailability is limited in saline. It has also been reported that tightly bound PAHs may become available to form PAH- DNA adducts in in vitro, but no such effect was found in rat lung (Borm et al., 2005). Therefore, it is quite possible that the effective clearance mechanisms present in mouse lung limits the bioavailability time of available PAHs i.e. PAH concentrations are too low to evoke primary direct genotoxic effects in the lungs with these kinds of short-term exposures. Particles can also induce oxidant generation in an aqueous suspension e.g. via a Haber-Weiss reaction, which is catalyzed in the presence of available metals (e.g. Fe, Cu, Cr, and V) (Schoonen et al., 2006; Schins & Knaapen, 2007). This is supported by the fact that in this study the transition metal concentration was higher in the particulate emissions from NT appliance than from the OT furnaces (II, Table 1.). Although, Zn cannot induce ROS production through Haber-Weiss reactions, it can trigger mitochondrial dysfunction via several mechanisms (Rudolf et al., 2005; Rudolf & Cervinka, 2010). Mitochondrial damage is a well-known source of intracellular ROS (Zorov et al., 2014). Moreover, the detected SCGE responses could also be secondary genotoxic effects which are not induced directly by the chemical compounds themselves, but from the reactive oxygen species which are generated during particle-elicited inflammation from activated macrophages and neutrophils (Schins & Knaapen, 2007). Indeed, it has been shown that if neutrophil influx into the lungs is blocked, this will reduce significantly the level of pulmonary oxidative DNA damage (Auten et al., 2002).

The reduced influx of neutrophils has been associated with immunosuppressive effects, most likely because of the PAHcompounds present in urban air particles (Happo et al., 2010). Moreover, this effect is seen with individual PAH compounds installed in mice (Kong et al., 1994; Jeon et al., 2005). Indeed, high concentrations of PAH compounds or wood smoke-rich particulate samples are associated with reduced inflammatory activity in murine lungs (Seagrave et al., 2006; Happo et al., 2008) as well as with a decrease in the levels of cytokines in BALF (Kong et al., 1994). In addition, PAH-rich samples are known to be genotoxic (Motykiewicz et al., 1990; Sevastyanova et al., 2007) and evoke cell cycle arrest in mouse macrophages (Jalava et al., 2007; Longhin et al., 2013). This cellular damage could be one mechanism for the possible immunosuppression that may explain the low level of inflammatory responses encountered after exposure to the samples gathered from OT appliances. There is also another Ah-receptor (AhR) mediated mechanism which has been postulated to explain how wood smoke can cause immunosuppression (Migliaccio at al., 2013). In this alternative, PAH compounds bind to AhR which activates transcription factor RelB leading to a decreased ability of macrophages to appropriately respond toward pulmonary infections (Migliaccio at al., 2013).

Previously, Ca has been linked with increased inflammatory responses in vivo (Happo et al., 2008) with exposure to urban air Moreover, a link between ambient sulfate particles. concentrations and long-term effects on mortality has been detected in epidemiological studies (e.g., Elliott et al., 2007). Other reports (e.g., Abrahamowicz et al., 2003) have challenged this relationship: it has been speculated that the sulfates may act more as a surrogate for other pollutants (e.g. metals) associated with their presence. Indeed, installation of high doses of residual oil fly ash (ROFA) in murine lungs caused acute lung injury and inflammation (Ghio et al., 2002; Marchini et al., 2014). In addition, the Utah Valley PM experiment showed similar results as earlier mentioned ROFA experiments. Utah Valley PM treated with Chelex, an agent that removes cations from solution, produced no chance in the inflammation mediator IL-8. While untreated extraction showed a significant increase in IL-8, when compared to control (Molinelli et al., 2002). These studies

clearly showed that particles with high transition metal concentrations can cause substantial lung injury, but it is not known whether similar phenomena will appear in wood combustion PM since the transition metals in wood combustion derived PM are different from the PM used in the ROFA and Utah Valley experiments. However, zinc that is the most prevalent transition metal in wood combustion emission was shown to cause pulmonary inflammation and oxidative stress in murine models (Ho et al., 2011; Chuang et al., 2014). Indeed, a possible mechanism for the toxic effects of PM transition metals was postulated to be ROS generation (Li et al., 2003). Moreover, it is possible that transition metals may synergize with organic PM components in ROS generation (Saldiva et al., 2002). Table 10. Associations between chemical constituents of particulate samples from different heating appliances and the toxicological markers in mice.

	Se	rum mark	ers			BALI	F markers		
Compound	IL-1β	IL-6	KC	IL-1β	IL-6	КC	Total protein	Neutrophils	SCGE
oc	0.306	-0.631	-0.739	0.306	-0.757*	-0.162	-0.234	0.18	-0.757*
EC	0.630	-0.482	-0.482	0.408	-0.657	-0.259	-0.185	0.074	-0.667
Ca	-0.179	0.714	0.786*	0.214	0.857*	0.714	0.786*	0.464	0.857*
Mg	-0.286	0.607	0.643	0.107	0.786*	0.679	0.571	0.393	0.786*
Mn	-0.334	0.704	0.815*	-0.037	0.927**	0.593	0.63	0.185	0.927**
¥	-0.036	0.893**	0.857*	0.036	0.786*	0.536	0.607	0.321	0.786*
Na	0.036	0.893**	0.893**	0.179	0.750	0.429	0.714	0.429	0.75
Zn	-0.036	0.750	0.857*	0.321	0.893**	0.786*	0.857*	0.5	0.893**
S	-0.107	0.679	0.893**	0.250	0.964**	0.714	0.821*	0.321	0.964**
Ū	0.214	0.750	0.821*	0.536	0.750	0.786*	0.964**	0.679	0.75
Cd	0.144	0.739	0.793*	0.487	0.739	0.757*	0.937**	0.667	0.739
The values in	this table	are Spearr	nan correla	tion coeffic	cients (p). Bo	oldfaced va	alues indicate st	catistically sign	nificant

correlations, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05. Abbreviations: BALF; bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; SCGE, single cell gel electrophoresis; OC, Organic carbon; EC, Elemental carbon; IL, Interleukin; KC, Keratinocyte-derived chemokine.

5.2 IN VITRO STUDIES (III-IV)

After the in vivo part of this thesis, it was clear that more toxicological information is needed from particles derived from efficient combustion. More specifically, the in vivo results indicated that transition metals might be responsible for the short term-toxic effects observed in mouse lungs. Thus, a series of in vitro experiments was conducted to investigate the role of the transition metals, especially zinc, in wood combustion PM emissions. It was decided to clarify the toxicological characteristics of PM from three different combustion situations, to study single components from efficient combustion particles and to determine if single components enriched in the efficient combustion PM could enhance toxicity. First, three combustion conditions (efficient, intermediate, and smouldering) were generated using a grate combustion reactor in order to examine whether one could obtain similar results as in the *in vivo* part of the thesis. In the second experimental setup, synthetic nanoparticles (NPs) which represented the main components of efficient combustion PM were made. Based on the results from those experiments zinc was selected for a subsequent single component enrichment study which formed the third in vitro study.

5.2.1 PM samples chemical composition

The concentrations of chemical compounds of PM₁ samples from the biomass combustion as well as the composition of the selected synthetic NPs are presented in Table 11. The chemical compositions of emission particles from the three combustion situations differed considerably from each other (Study III). Particles emitted from the efficient combustion contained a much higher fraction of metals than those emitted from the intermediate or smouldering combustion situations. The most abundant transition metals detected in the efficient combustion PM sample were zinc, manganese and chromium. In contrast, there were more PAH compounds, OC and EC emitted from the intermediate and especially in smouldering combustion situations. The smouldering combustion sample contained the highest concentrations of PAH compounds. Study IV investigated NPs with either zinc oxide or potassium sulfate; their chemical composition is also described in Table 11. Study V examined samples from pellet combustion. The combustion of pellets with added zinc produced the zinc-rich particles is described in Table 11. The chemical composition of the native pellet samples was very similar to the other pellet samples and the efficient combustion sample, with the exception of zinc concentration. Moreover, the synthetic K+S+Zn particle sample contained the same amount of zinc as the native pellet PM sample.

In real life situations, many different combustion conditions are possible. In study III, real life situations were simulated as follows: efficient conditions representing optimal biomass combustion e.g., a modern continuously operated boiler; smouldering conditions e.g. in a conventional batch combustion and intermediate conditions representing a malfunction, a partial load or startup/shutdown situation of a modern boiler (Tissari et al., 2008; Sippula et al., 2009; Lamberg et al., 2011, 2013; Heringa et al., 2011). Those combustion situations represent relatively well those present in the appliances examined in studies I and II. In study IV the synthetic ZnO particles were produced by FSP using an organometallic zinc precursor and ethanol as the fuel. This leads to the formation of ZnO NP (Height et al., 2006) similar to those that have been detected in efficient wood combustion emission PM (Torvela et al., 2014). Moreover, potassium sulfate (K+S+Zn) particles containing a low amount of zinc were synthesized, as they are commonly present in particle emissions from efficient wood combustion (Sippula et al., 2012). In study V, the used pellet materials represented real life situations. Combustion of the native pellet was representative of good quality stem wood pellet burning (Sippula et al., 2007b), whereas the Zn-low sample corresponded to wood residue pellet combustion

(Sippula et al., 2007b; Chandrasekaran et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2014). Finally, the two higher zinc-containing samples would be more commonly encountered in waste incineration (Krook et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2014).

The present result demonstrated that it is possible to generate under experimental conditions PM samples, which resemble real world wood combustion PM emissions. This was done adjustable combustion devices in а using laboratory environment. Moreover, nanoparticles containing defined amounts of potassium, sulfur and zinc were synthesized to study the major components forming inorganic particles in wood combustion. This is important since generally wood combustion emissions are extremely heterogeneous. It is an advantage if one can control many of the potential confounding factors (e.g. appliance, operation practice and fuel) in wood combustion derived particles. Since this can help, in subsequent toxicological analyses aimed at identifying the causative chemical compositions behind the adverse health effects. Moreover, when studying the single components in wood combustion emissions the potential harmfulness of the compound under study can be evaluated.

		Study III		Stuc	ły IV		St	udy V	
Compound	Smouldering	Intermediate	Efficient	ZnO	K+S+Zn	Native	Zn-low	Zn-medium	Zn-high
EC	752000	523000	14000	n.a.	n.a.	00089	22000	20000	6000
OC	273000	352000	27000	n.a.	n.a.	21000	13000	22000	12000
Total PAHs	32000	2300	430	С	lbd	200	30	50	30
CI ⁻	5800	27600	154000	1400	1100	70000	70000	35000	13000
NO ₃ ⁻	lbd	1140	2660	lbd	lbd	6000	3900	2700	lbd
SO4 ²⁻	3400	6000	217000	44600	550000	151000	152000	00006	25000
Ca	4800	lbd	11400	1840	13400	2340	2580	lbd	lbd
Cd	10	20	130	lpq	lpd	10	lpq	10	lbd
J	50	06	6000	190	260	60	60	45	50
Cu	50	140	760	40	280	190	180	150	06
Fe	lbd	4400	620	lpq	160	718	1390	846	680
¥	16000	64000	30000	4000	182000	180000	129000	84600	30000
Mg	lbdl	lbdl	1920	lbd	980	980	1060	880	850
Mn	120	100	1260	lþd	120	320	230	180	80
Na	10000	3400	18000	2000	6000	18500	13400	7920	3540
Pb	40	130	3400	lþd	14	120	110	06	50
Zn	4000	9600	58000	560000	8400	0006	162000	348000	828000

Table 11. Concentrations of the chemical constituents (ng/mg) in particulate samples from different combustion cases.

80

5.2.2 Cell death, cell cycle arrest and ROS production

5.2.2.1 Cell death

The cytotoxicity results of RAW 264.7 macrophages as determined with the propidium iodide (PI) exclusion assay after 24 h exposure to selected combustion particles is presented in Figure 5A. The results are expressed as response to zinc concentration in the cell culture medium. All samples except K+S+Zn evoked a statistically significant increase in cell membrane permeability, which is indicative of necrotic or late apoptotic cell death. It is noteworthy that when the free zinc concentration in the cell culture medium exceeded 3 μ g/ml (46 µM), all PI exclusion assay responses were statistically significant as compared to the corresponding control. When the zinc content increased to 46 μ g/ml (704 μ M) virtually all of the cells were dead. In contrast, the K+S+Zn sample did not induce any cell death. Native pellet samples caused some toxicity at the highest PM dose (300 μ g/ml). In that case, the zinc content in the cell culture medium was about 1 μ g/ml (15 μ M).

In previous *in vitro* studies it has been shown that Zn^{2+} ions can induce necrotic cell death in human bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) as well as RAW 264.7 macrophages (Xia et al., 2008). Moreover, severe cytotoxicity has been detected after treatment of several human and murine cell lines with ZnO NPs (Zhang et al., 2014). Although the Zn^{2+} ion is thought to be responsible for the evoked toxic effects, it has been shown in *in vitro* studies that at least with respect of the ZnO NPs, contact with to cells is required to induce cytotoxicity (Moos et al., 2000; Hsiao & Huang, 2011).

When toxic effects (e.g. oxidative stress) overwhelm cellular defense mechanisms, they will cause damage to many critical macromolecules such as proteins, lipids, and DNA. As a response, the cell will attempt to repair the damage and adapt to the elevated stress. If this fails, the fate of the cell will be to undergo either apoptotic or necrotic cell death (Fink & Cookson, 2005). The present results demonstrated that there was extensive

cell death at Zn concentrations above 8-10 μ g/ml in the cell culture medium. This indicates that zinc caused severe failure of cellular protective mechanisms at those concentrations. The *In vivo* results in this thesis revealed decreased macrophage numbers after exposure to PM samples originating from NT combustion appliances that contained high Zn concentrations. This decreased in macrophage numbers may have been caused by cell death.

5.2.2.2 Cell cycle arrest

An experiment was conducted to determine whether particles could disrupt normal cell cycle, this being analyzed with flow cytometry. When the cell cycle of RAW 264.7 macrophages was analyzed (Figure 5B), an accumulation of the cells in S-G₂/M cell cycle phase was noted. This is an indicator of cell cycle arrest in G₂ phase. Cell cycle arrest was detected when the zinc content in cell culture medium was 9 μ g/ml (138 μ M). The most severe effects on the cell cycle were observed with PM₁ samples containing the highest Zn concentrations.

In line with the present results, Yin et al. (2012) found recently that exposing RSC96 Schwann cells to 8 μ g/ml (122 μ M) ZnO NPs resulted in an accumulation of cells in the G₂/M phase. Moreover, exposure to zinc sulfate was previously reported to induce G₂-phase cell cycle arrest in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549) at similar Zn concentrations as used in this thesis (Könczöl et al., 2012). In addition, Wong et al. (2008) have demonstrated that Zn²⁺ ion can induce G₂/M cell cycle arrest in human bronchial epithelial cells. The mechanism behind this phenomenon may be oxidative DNA damage induced by Zn (Rudolf & Cervinka, 2011). It is known that damage to DNA may stop cells from passing through the various checkpoints in the cell cycle (King & Cidlowski, 1998). Indeed, ZnO NPs have been reported to evoke the formation of ROS and to trigger apoptotic cell death (Sharma et al., 2012).

5.2.2.3 ROS production

The amounts of intracellular ROS and RNS generation after the exposures of RAW 264.7 macrophages to PM containing various amounts of zinc are shown in Figure 5C. All the PM₁ samples except K+S+Zn and native pellet induced a statistically significant increase in ROS production in RAW 264.7 macrophages, at least when delivered at the highest PM dose (300 μ g/ml). The three highest Zn containing PM₁ samples were the most potent in evoking oxidative stress in the macrophages.

Zinc, which is the most prevalent transition metal in the particles emitted during wood combustion (Sippula et al., 2007b), has been linked to ROS mediated depletion of reduced glutathione (GSH) and G₂-cell cycle arrest (Walther et al., 2003; Shih et al., 2008). Moreover, it has been shown that the oxidative potential of ambient PM significantly correlates with the Zn concentration (Zhang et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2013). In addition, it is also known that the ZnO NPs and ionic Zn²⁺ can trigger extensive oxidative stress in a variety of cell lines (Wu et al., 2013). One putative mechanism to explain the generation of ROS inside the cells as well as the other detected effects on cell viability and cell cycle is that Zn²⁺ ions reduce GSSG reductase enzyme activity leading to a decline in the storages of GSH and eventually to compromised ROS homeostasis in the cell (Walther et al., 2000, 2003; Bishop et al., 2007).

Zinc is a ubiquitous contaminant of ambient air that represents an oxidant challenge to the human lung (Wu et al., 2013). The toxicological responses to exogenous zinc range from cell death to cell cycle disruption and these are probably attributable to its oxidative properties. The Zn²⁺ cation is not capable of ROS production by itself and thus the elevated ROS levels must have an endogenous cellular origin, e.g. produced by mitochondria. Moreover, there is evidence that zinc can exert multiple oxidative effects in the lungs as well as cells during *in vitro* incubation (Dineley et al., 2005; Cheng et al., 2010). At the center of these zinc-induced oxidative properties is it's interactions with cellular thiols (Krezel et al., 2007). Thus, the release of ZnO NPs or combustion-generated particles with high Zn concentrations into the environment would be predicted to have negative health effects.



Figure 5. Acute cytotoxicity (**A**), S-G₂/M cell cycle phase (**B**) and reactive oxygen species production inside cells (**C**) after 24 h exposure of RAW 264.7 macrophages to particulate samples from efficient combustion of wood chips and pellets as well as flame spray pyrolysis. The columns represent means, with error bars showing standard errors of the mean (SEM). The asterisks indicate statistical significance compared to the blank substrate control (p < 0.05) analyzed by the nonparametric Kruskal–Wallis test. The numbers after combustion samples represent PM doses (15, 50, 150 and 300 µg/ml) and numbers under Zn [µg/ml] represent maximum free zinc ion concentration in the cell culture medium.

Abbreviations: DCF, 2 ' ,7 ' - dichlorodihydrofluorescein; PI, Propidium iodide.

5.3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

In this thesis, PM samples were collected using a Dekati® gravimetric impactor. After collection, the gathered PM mass was extracted from the filters using methanol and dried using nitrogen flow. Prior to the *in vivo* or *in vitro* exposures, the PM samples were thawed and re-suspended using DMSO and incubation in an ultrasonic water bath. This slight amount of DMSO is needed to detach the dried PM from the sides of the glass tubes. It is known that DMSO can have some cellprotecting abilities due to ROS scavenging and may increase transportation of particles through the cell membranes and surfaces of alveoli (Colucci et al., 2008). In addition, DMSO is known to have both inflammatory and anti-inflammatory effects (Colucci et al., 2008). Those properties were excluded in pilot studies conducted both in vivo and in vitro. Moreover, DMSO is a standard solvent in PM toxicity studies (e.g. de Kok et al., 2006).

One important issue to be considered is that when PM is collected in an impactor one loses all of the gaseous compounds. Moreover, volatile and semi-volatile compounds are at least to some extent lost during the extraction procedure. Finally, after extraction and PM re-suspension, the particles do not return to their original PM₁ size when *in vivo* and *in vitro* exposures are conducted. However, without direct exposure methods (e.g. at the air-liquid interface) this is the best option available.

An intratracheal aspiration technique was used in the present *in vivo* studies to deliver the PM samples to the lower airways of mice. Naturally, this administration differs from inhalation exposure. However, it was shown that intratracheal aspiration and inhalation exposure can result in similar outcomes, although there were some differences in the intensity of the responses (Costa et al., 2006; Shvedova et al., 2008). It was postulated that in intratracheal aspiration, the particles in the suspension contain agglomerates, which lower their reactivity in comparison with inhalation exposure. In this thesis, the doses used in the *in vivo* experiments may seem relatively high.

However, these doses are no higher than the intratracheal aspirated doses that have been examined previously (Adamson et al., 1999; Walters et al, 2001; Schins et al., 2004; Gerlofs-Nijland et al., 2005; Happo at al., 2008). The use of relatively high doses is necessary in order to demonstrate statistically significant differences in toxicological endpoints between the particulate samples. This is important especially when small groups of healthy animals are used. The number of mice used in the studies was kept to a minimum for ethical reasons. Mild general anesthesia was used during the intratracheal aspiration exposure of the animals to eliminate any possible pain and discomfort. Overall, the animals appeared to be in good physical condition during the experiments.

Other experiments described in this thesis were conducted with the mouse macrophage cell line, which represents a model to the first line of defense against particles in the lungs. Nevertheless, the *in vitro* model has several limitations when compared to the animal model, e.g. cultured cells cannot undergo interactions with other cell types or receive signals from nerves as well as lacking the clearance mechanism present in the intact animal. It can however, represent a very useful tool for clarifying toxicological mechanisms. More specifically, there are three major reasons behind the selection of this specific cell line. Firstly, there is a large database in our laboratory on the responses induced and on the mechanisms activated in these cells by different inhalable particulates. Thus, the detected responses could be readily compared to previous data. Secondly, a mouse model was used in animal studies. Thus it was possible to compare the responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the same species. Finally, wood smoke affects the pulmonary immune defense and thus the lung macrophage cell line can be used to unravel the biological mechanisms participating in this phenomenon.

6 Conclusions

The present thesis has added to our knowledge of the toxic properties of wood combustion derived particles and their association with potentially harmful chemical compositions especially zinc.

The main findings from *in vivo* studies:

- 1. There were substantial differences in the combustion quality of OT and NT appliances; those also affected the chemical composition of emission PM. The OT furnaces clearly had the highest emissions in terms of total particulate mass. Moreover their emissions were dominated by soot and OC. Instead, with the low emission NT appliances, the following elements were enriched in the particles: Ca, Mg, Mn, K, Na, Zn, S, Cl and Cd.
- 2. Short-term inflammatory, cytotoxic and genotoxic effects in mouse lungs were seen after dosing of PM from NT appliances. In contrast, OT appliances induced only minor inflammatory responses in the lungs of mice. The levels of inflammatory markers as well as extent of genotoxicity correlated positively with the ash related constituents of particles, whereas OC had a negative correlation with the detected responses, potentially due to the immunosuppressive effect of these organic compounds.
- 3. The detected responses only represent short-term effects that reflect the acute phase of inflammation. The low inflammatory responses evoked by the samples from OT appliances should not be underestimated since they may disturb the normal foreign particle clearance mechanisms mediated via inflammatory cells. Moreover, there were large differences in PM₁ total mass emissions between the old and new combustion technologies in favor (lower emissions) of the NT appliances.

The main findings from *in vitro* studies:

- 1. Combustion efficiency had a major effect on chemical constitutions and subsequently on the toxicological properties of the emitted PM₁. Similarly to the *in vivo* results, PM samples derived from efficient wood combustion were cytotoxic, and caused cell cycle arrest and ROS production inside the cells when the emissions contained transition metals. Instead, the particles collected from the inefficient combustion were more potent inducers of programmed cell death and genotoxicity.
- 2. ZnO NPs displayed a similar toxicity profile as PM from efficient combustion. At the same time, potassium carbonates and sulfates, which are major components of wood combustion particles, were found not to induce any toxic effects.
- 3. Zn, when it was enriched in emission PM, was significantly toxic. Moreover, there was a similar toxicity profile between the efficient wood combustion PM and ZnO NPs.

In summary, it was observed that short-term inflammatory, cytotoxic and genotoxic activities in mouse lung correlated positively with the transition metal concentrations in the particles whereas the levels of OC correlated negatively with the detected responses. The toxic mechanisms of transition metals were further examined in an *in vitro* model. The mechanisms behind the detected toxic effects seemed to be oxidative stress which damaged the cell's DNA and lipids, leading to cell cycle arrest, membrane damage and ultimately to cell death.

In conclusion, it was shown that the toxic potential of efficient wood combustion PM is likely to be attributable to certain metal species such as zinc, when there are low concentrations of carbonaceous species in the PM. To prevent potential adverse health effects of PM, more attention should be paid to the contents of volatile transition metals in biomass fuels and furthermore the use of efficient combustion should be promoted as a way of lowering the total mass of particulate emissions.

7 Acknowledgments

This thesis was carried out in the Department of Environmental Science of University of Eastern Finland and in the Department of Environmental Toxicology of The National Institute for Health and Welfare. The study has been financially supported by the Research Programme on Sustainable Energy of the Academy of Finland, The Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation (TEKES), Austrian Kplus program of the Federal Government of Austria, the State Government of Styria and the State Government of Lower Austria, strategic funding of the University of Eastern Finland (Sustainable Bioenergy, Climate Change and Health), Ministry of Education, graduate school in environmental health (SYTYKE) and the North Savo Regional Fund (Alma and Jussi Jalkanen grant).

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my principle supervisor Professor Maija-Riitta Hirvonen Ph.D for all the excellent scientific guidance and the support during this thesis project. Her knowledge and passion for research has created a very motivating educational environment in which to conduct this thesis project. I am deeply grateful to my supervisor Pasi Jalava Ph.D for sharing his knowledge of cell models and flow cytometry. I am also very thankful to my supervisor Mikko Happo Ph.D for his valuable advises concerning animal model and statistical analysis. All of my supervisors are acknowledged for their expertise and encouragement during the thesis work. I also wish to thank my supervisors for encouraging me to participate with them in many international meetings.

I wish to express my gratitude to the official reviewers, research professor Arja Rautio, MD, Ph.D and research professor Hannu Norppa, Ph.D, for the careful revision of my thesis and valuable comments that helped me to improve the work. I also wish to thank Ewen MacDonald Pharm.D for linguistic correction of my thesis.

The contributions of DI Thomas Brunner, DI Joachim Kelz, and DI Ingwald Obernberger have been invaluable. Without their excellent work in the sample collection and chemical characterization, the work in the HEATOX project would not have been possible. Jorma Mäki-Paakkanen Ph.D and Pasi Hakulinen Ph.D have contributed a great deal to the toxicological experiments trough providing their expertise in genotoxicity. In addition, Jorma and I have also enjoyed many pleasant conversations off topic. Moreover, I express my gratitude to Tiina Torvela, Jani Leskinen, Terhi Kaivosoja, Annika Virén, Olli Sippula, Jarkko Tissari, Tommi Karhunen, Anna Lähde and Heikki Lamberg for work in the PM sample collection and physicochemical characterization in BIOHEALTH project. Professor Jorma Jokiniemi Ph.D is acknowledged for his expertise in the field of PM physics and chemistry. Moreover, I am indebted to all of the experts in the FINE group that have not been individually mentioned here.

Maija Tapanainen is acknowledged for the invaluable advices at the start of my scientific career in the Inhalation toxicology group. I also express my gratitude to all the current and former members of our research team for sharing their knowledge and for the cheerful discussions during coffee breaks. The excellent laboratory work is also highly appreciated; in particular from Miia Koistinen and Arja Kinnunen but also Heli Martikainen has helped greatly in all phases of the laboratory work in the BIOHEALTH and HEATOX projects. I wish to thank my parents for always supporting me in my life and in all phases of my studies. Special thanks belong to my brother Iiro for his encouragement and his super LAN gaming events which always cheered me up. I want to thank all my friends for being important counterweights against the science. I want to thank my perfect daughter Airi for teaching me the real priorities in life. Last but not least, I want to express my deepest gratitude to my wife Irina for her patience and loving support during the time we have spent together. Our perfect understanding of each other has created the foundation for our everyday life.

Kuopio 2014

Oskari Uski

8 References

- Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, Pillai S, 2007. Cellular and molecular immunology. 6th edition. Saunders. Elsevier. Philadelphia, PA. p.566.
- Abrahamowicz M, Schopflocher T, Leffondré K, du Berger R, Krewski D, 2003. Flexible modeling of exposure-response relationship between long-term average levels of particulate air pollution and mortality in the American Cancer Society study. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 66(16-19):1625-1654.
- Adamson IY, Prieditis H, Hedgecock C, Vincent R, 2000. Zinc is the toxic factor in the lung response to an atmospheric particulate sample. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 166(2):111-9.
- Adamson IY, Prieditis H, Vincent R, 1999. Pulmonary toxicity of an atmospheric particulate sample is due to the soluble fraction. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 157(1):43-50.
- Alfarra MR, Prevot ASH, Szidat S, Sandradewi J, Weimer S, Lanz VA, Schreiber D, Mohr M, Baltensperger U, 2007. Identification of the mass spectral signature of organic aerosols from wood burning emissions. Environ Sci Technol. 41:5770-5777.
- Allen, RW, Mar T, Koenig J, Liu LJ, Gould T, Simpson C, Larson T, 2008. Changes in lung function and airway inflammation among asthmatic children residing in a woodsmoke-impacted urban area. Inhal Toxicol 20:423-433.
- Andersen ZJ, Wahlin P, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Scheike T, Loft S, 2007. Ambient particle source apportionment and daily hospital admissions among children and elderly in Copenhagen. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol. 17:625-636.
- Anderson JO, Thundiyil JG, Stolbach A, 2012. Clearing the air: a review of the effects of particulate matter air pollution on human health. J Med Toxicol. 8(2):166-175.
- Auten RL, Whorton MH, Mason SN, 2002. Blocking neutrophil influx reduces DNA damage in hyperoxia-exposed newborn rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 26:391-397.
- Bai N, Khazaei M, van Eeden SF, Laher I, 2007. The pharmacology of particulate matter air pollution-induced cardiovascular dysfunction. Pharmacol Ther. 113:16-29.
- Barregard L, Sällsten G, Andersson L, Almstrand AC, Gustafson P, Andersson M, Olin AC, 2008. Experimental exposure to wood smoke: effects on airway inflammation and oxidative stress. Occup Environ Med. 65:319-324.
- Barregard L, Sällsten G, Gustafson P, Andersson L, Johansson L, Basu S, Stigendal L, 2006. Experimental exposure to wood-smoke particles in healthy humans: effects on markers of inflammation, coagulation, and lipid peroxidation. Inhal Toxicol. 18:845-853.

- Barrett EG, Henson RD, Seilkop SK, McDonald JD, Reed MD, 2006. Effects of hardwood smoke exposure on allergic airway inflammation in mice. Inhal Toxicol. 18:33-43.
- Bartal M, 2005. COPD and tobacco smoke. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis. 63(4):213-25.
- Behera D, Balamugesh T, 2005. Indoor air pollution as a risk factor for lung cancer in women. J Assoc Physicians India. 53:190-192.
- Bergsbaken T, Fink SL, Cookson BT, 2009. Pyroptosis: host cell death and inflammation. Nat Rev Microbiol. 7(2):99-109.
- Bishop GM, Dringen R, Robinson SR, 2007. Zinc stimulates the production of toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inhibits glutathione reductase in astrocytes. Free Radic Biol Med. 42(8):1222-1230.
- Bisutti I, Hilke I, Raessler M, 2004.Determination of total organic carbon. Trends Anal Chem 23:716-726.
- Boman BC, Forsberg AB, Järvholm BG, 2003. Adverse health effects from ambient air pollution in relation to residential wood combustion in modern society. Scand J Work Environ Health. 29:251-260.
- Boman C, Nordin A, Bostrom D, Ohman M, 2004. Characterization of inorganic particulate matter from residential combustion of pelletized biomass fuels. Energy Fuels. 18:338–348.
- Borm PJ, Cakmak G, Jermann E, Weishaupt C, Kempers P, van Schooten FJ, Oberdörster G, Schins RP, 2005. Formation of PAH-DNA adducts after in vivo and vitro exposure of rats and lung cells to different commercial carbon blacks. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 205(2):157-167.
- Brassard PJ, Palacios H, Godbout S, Bussières D, Lagacé R, Larouche J-P, Pelletier F, 2014. Comparison of the gaseous and particulate matter emissions from the combustion of agricultural and forest biomasses. Bioresource Technol. 155:300-306.
- Brunner T, Obernberger I. Primarymeasures for low-emission residential wood combustion—comparison of old with optimised modern systems. in: Proc. of the 17th European Biomass Conference, June 2009, Hamburg, Germany, ISBN 978-88-89407-57-3, ETA-Renewable Energies (Ed.), Florence, Italy, pp. 2009;1319-28.
- Burchiel SW, Lauer FT, Dunaway SL, Zawadzki J, McDonald JD, Reed MD, 2005. Hardwood smoke alters murine splenic T cell responses to mitogens following a 6-month whole body inhalation exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 202:229-236.
- Bølling AK, Totlandsdal AI, Sallsten G, Braun A, Westerholm R, Bergvall C, Boman J, Dahlman HJ, Sehlstedt M, Cassee F, Sandstrom T, Schwarze PE, Herseth JI, 2012. Wood smoke particles from different combustion phases induce similar pro-inflammatory effects in a co-culture of monocyte and pneumocyte cell lines. Part Fibre Toxicol. 9:45.
- Bønløkke JH, Riddervold IS, Grønborg TK, Skogstrand K, Hougaard DM, Barregard L, Sigsgaard T, 2014. Systemic effects of wood smoke in a short-term experimental exposure study of atopic volunteers. J Occup Environ Med. 56(2):177-183.

- Chan JK, Kodani SD, Charrier JG, Morin D, Edwards PC, Anderson DS, Anastasio C, Van Winkle LS, 2013. Age-specific effects on rat lung glutathione and antioxidant enzymes after inhaling ultrafine soot. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 48(1):114-124.
- Chandrasekaran SR, Hopke PK, Rector L, Allen G, Lin L, 2012. Chemical Composition of Wood Chips and Wood Pellets. Energy Fuels. 26(8):4932-4937.
- Cheng WY, Tong H, Miller EW, Chang CJ, Remington J, Zucker RM, Bromberg PA, Samet JM, Hofer TP, 2010. An integrated imaging approach to the study of oxidative stress generation by mitochondrial dysfunction in living cells. Environ Health Perspect. 118(7):902-908.
- Chuang HC, Cheng YL, Lei YC, Chang HH, Cheng TJ, 2013. Protective effects of pulmonary epithelial lining fluid on oxidative stress and DNA single-strand breaks caused by ultrafine carbon black, ferrous sulphate and organic extract of diesel exhaust particles. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 266(3):329-334.
- Chuang HC, Juan HT, Chang CN, Yan YH, Yuan TH, Wang JS, Chen HC, Hwang YH, Lee CH, Cheng TJ, 2014. Cardiopulmonary toxicity of pulmonary exposure to occupationally relevant zinc oxide nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology. 8(6):593-604.
- Colucci M, Maione F, Bonito MC, Piscopo A, Di Giannuario A, Pieretti S, 2008. New insights of dimethyl sulphoxide effects (DMSO) on experimental in vivo models of nociception and inflammation. Pharmacol Res. 57(6):419-425.
- Corsini E, Budello S, Marabini L, Galbiati V, Piazzalunga A, Barbieri P, Cozzutto S, Marinovich M, Pitea D, Galli CL, 2013. Comparison of wood smoke PM2.5 obtained from the combustion of FIR and beech pellets on inflammation and DNA damage in A549 and THP-1 human cell lines. Arch Toxicol. 87(12):2187-2199.
- Costa DL, Lehmann JR, Winsett D, Richards J, Ledbetter AD, Dreher KL, 2006. Comparative pulmonary toxicological assessment of oil combustion particles following inhalation or instillation exposure. Toxicol Sci. 91:237-246.
- Danielsen PH, Brauner EV, Barregard L, Sällsten G, Wallin M, Olinski R, Rozalski R, Møller P, Loft S, 2008. Oxidatively damaged DNA and its repair after experimental exposure to wood smoke in healthy humans. Mutat Res. 642:37-42.
- Danielsen PH, Loft S, Jacobsen NR, Jensen KA, Autrup H, Ravanat JL, Wallin H, Møller P, 2010. Oxidative stress, inflammation, and DNA damage in rats after intratracheal instillation or oral exposure to ambient air and wood smoke particulate matter. Toxicol Sci. 118(2):574-585.
- Danielsen PH, Loft S, Kocbach A, Schwarze PE, Møller P, 2009. Oxidative damage to DNA and repair induced by Norwegian wood smoke particles in human A549 and THP-1 cell lines. Gen Toxicol Environ Mut. 674:116-122.
- Danielsen PH, Møller P, Jensen KA, Sharma AK, Wallin H, Bossi R, Autrup H, Mølhave L, Ravanat JL, Briedé JJ, de Kok TM, Loft S, 2011. Oxidative stress, DNA damage, and inflammation induced by ambient air and wood smoke particulate matter in human A549 and THP-1 cell lines. Chem Res Toxicol. 24:168-184.

- Darzynkiewicz Z, Bruno S, Del Bino G, Gorczyca W, Hotz MA, Lassota P, Traganos F, 1992. Features of apoptotic cells measured by flow cytometry. Cytometry. 13:795-808.
- Davidsson KO, Stojkova BJ, Pettersson JBC, 2002. Alkali emission from birchwood particles during rapid pyrolysis. Energy Fuels. 16:1033-1039.
- de Kok TM, Driece HA, Hogervorst JG, Briedé JJ, 2006. Toxicological assessment of ambient and traffic-related particulate matter: a review of recent studies. Mutat Res. 613(2-3):103-22.
- Demling R, Lalonde C, Picard L, Blanchard J, 1994. Changes in lung and systemic oxidant and antioxidant activity after smoke inhalation. Shock. 1(2):101-107.
- Demling RH, LaLonde C, 1990. Moderate smoke inhalation produces decreased oxygen delivery, increased oxygen demands, and systemic but not lung parenchymal lipid peroxidation. Surgery. 108(3):544-552.
- Devasagayam TP, Tilak JC, Boloor KK, Sane KS, Ghaskadbi SS, Lele RD, 2004. Free radicals and antioxidants in human health: current status and future prospects. J Assoc Physicians India. 52:794-804.
- Dick CA, Singh P, Daniels M, Evansky P, Becker S, Gilmour MI, 2003. Murine pulmonary inflammatory responses following instillation of size-fractionated ambient particulate matter. J Toxicol Environ Health Part A. 66:2193-2207.
- Dineley KE, Richards LL, Votyakova TV, Reynolds IJ, 2005. Zinc causes loss of membrane potential and elevates reactive oxygen species in rat brain mitochondria. Mitochondrion. 5(1):55-65.
- Directive 2009/287EC of the European Parliament, Official Journal of the European Union, June 5th 2009.
- Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament, Official Journal of the European Union. 22 September 2010 on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes.
- Driscoll KE, Lindenschmidt RC, Maurer JK, Higgins JM, Ridder G, 1990. Pulmonary response to silica or titanium dioxide: inflammatory cells, alveolar macrophage-derived cytokines, and histopathology. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2(4):381-390.
- Dubick MA, Carden SC, Jordan BS, Langlinais PC, Mozingo DW, 2002. Indices of antioxidant status in rats subjected to wood smoke inhalation and/or thermal injury. Toxicology. 176(1–2):145-157.
- Elliott P, Shaddick G, Wakefield J, de Hoogh C, Briggs D, 2007. Long-term associations of outdoor air pollution with mortality in Great Britain.Thorax. 62:1088-1094.
- Favez O, Cachier H, Sciare J, Sarda-Esteve R, Martinon L, 2009. Evidence for a significant contribution of wood burning aerosols to PM2.5 during the winter season in Paris, France. Atmos Environ. 43:3640-3644.
- Ferrero-Miliani L, Nielsen OH, Andersen PS, Girardin SE, 2007. Chronic inflammation: importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1beta generation. Clin Exp Immunol. 147(2):227-235.
- Fine PM, Cass GR, Simoneit BRT 2001. Chemical characterization of fine particle emissions from fireplace combustion of woods grown in the Northeastern United States. Environ Sci Technol. 35:2665-2675.

- Fingerova H, Oborna I, Novotny J, Svobodova M, Brezinova J, Radova L, 2009. The measurement of reactive oxygen species in human neat semen and in suspended spermatozoa: a comparison. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 7:118.
- Fink S, Cookson B, 2005. Apoptosis, Pyroptosis, and Necrosis: Mechanistic Description of Dead and Dying Eukaryotic Cells. Infect Immun. 73(4):1907-1916.
- Fogel R, Cromack K, 1977. Effect of habitat and substrate quality on Douglas fir litter decomposition in western Oregon. Can J Bot. 55(12): 1632-1640.
- Forchhammer L, Loft S, Roursgaard M, Cao Y, Riddervold IS, Sigsgaard T, Møller P, 2012b. Expression of adhesion molecules, monocyte interactions and oxidative stress in human endothelial cells exposed to wood smoke and diesel exhaust particulate matter. Toxicol Lett. 209(2):121-128.
- Forchhammer L, Møller P, Riddervold IS, Bønløkke J, Massling A, Sigsgaard T, Loft S, 2012a. Controlled human wood smoke exposure: oxidative stress, inflammation and microvascular function. Part Fibre Toxicol. 9:7.
- Fotakis G, Timbrell JA, 2006. In vitro cytotoxicity assays: comparison of LDH, neutral red, MTT and protein assay in hepatoma cell lines following exposure to cadmium chloride. Toxicol Lett. 160(2):171-177.
- Fountoukis C, Butler T, Lawrence MG, Denier van der Gon HAC, Visschedijk AJH, Charalampidis P, Pilinis C, Pandis SN, 2014. Impacts of controlling biomass burning emissions on wintertime carbonaceous aerosol in Europe. Atmos Environ. 87:175-182.
- Franchini M, Mannucci PM, 2011. Thrombogenicity and cardiovascular effects of ambient air pollution. Blood. 118(9):2405-2412
- Franchini M, Mannucci PM. 2009. Particulate air pollution and cardiovascular risk: short-term and long-term effects. Semin Thromb Hemost. 35(7):665-670.
- Freeman R, King B, 1972. Technique for the performance of the nitro-blue tetrazolium (NBT) test. J Clin Pathol. 25(10):912-914.
- Fruin S, Urman R, Lurmann F, McConnell R, Gauderman J, Rappaport E, Franklin M, Gilliland FD, Shafer M, Gorski P, Avol, E, 2014. Spatial variation in particulate matter components over a large urban area. Atmos Environ. 83:211-219
- Gabriel KMA, Endlicher WR, 2011. Urban and rural mortality rates during heat waves in Berlin and Brandenburg, Germany. Environ Pollut. 159(8–9): 2044– 2050.
- Gaeggeler K, Prevot ASH, Dommen J, Legreid G, Reimann S, Baltensperger U, 2008. Residential wood burning in an Alpine valley as a source for oxygenated volatile organic compounds, hydrocarbons and organic acids. Atm Environ. 42:8278-8287.
- Gavrieli Y, Sherman Y, Ben-Sasson SA, 1992. Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J Cell Biol. 119(3):493-501.
- Genotoxicity investigations on nanomaterials. Oesch F, Landsiedel R, 2012. Arch Toxicol. 86(7):985-994.

- Gerlofs-Nijland ME, Boere AJF, Leseman, DLAC, Dormans JAMA, Sandström T, Salonen RO, van Bree L, Cassee FR, 2005. Effects of particulate matter on the pulmonary and vascular system: time course in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Part Fibre Toxicol. 2:2.
- Ghio AJ, 2008. Mechanism of asthmatic exacerbation by ambient air pollution particles. Expert Rev Resp Med. 2:109-118.
- Ghio AJ, Silbajoris R, Carson JL, Samet JM, 2002. Biologic effects of oil fly ash. Environ Health Perspect. Suppl 1:89-94.
- Ghio AJ, Smith CB, Madden MC, 2012b. Diesel exhaust particles and airway inflammation. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 18(2):144-150.
- Ghio AJ, Soukup JM, Case M, Dailey LA, Richards J, Berntsen J, Devlin RB, Stone S, Rappold A, 2012a. Exposure to wood smoke particles produces inflammation in healthy volunteers. Occup Environ Med. 69(3):170-175.
- Giechaskiel B, Maricq M, Ntziachristos L, Dardiotis C, Wang X, Axmann H, Bergmanna A, Schindlerg W, 2014. Review of motor vehicle particulate emissions sampling and measurement: from smoke and filter mass to particle number. J Aerosol Sci. 67:48-86.
- Glasius M, Ketzel M, Wåhlin P, Jensen B, Monster J, Berkowicz R, Palmgren F, 2006. Impact of wood combustion on particle levels in a residential area in Denmark. Atm Environ. 40:7115-7124.
- Gold DR, Litonjua A, Schwartz J, Lovett E, Larson A, Nearing B, Allen G, Verrier M, Cherry R, Verrier R, 2000. Ambient pollution and heart rate variability. Circulation. 101: 1267-1273.
- Groom AV, Hennessy TW, Singleton RJ, Butler JC, Holve S, Cheek JE, 2014. Pneumonia and influenza mortality among American Indian and Alaska Native people, 1990-2009. Am J Public Health. 104(Suppl) 3:S460-469.
- Guarnieri MJ, Diaz JV, Basu C, Diaz A, Pope D, Smith KR, Smith-Sivertsen T, Bruce N, Solomon C, McCracken J, Balmes JR, 2014. Effects of woodsmoke exposure on airway inflammation in rural Guatemalan women. PLoS One. 9(3):e88455.
- Gurgueira SA, Lawrence J, Coull B, Murthy GG, González-Flecha B, 2002. Rapid increases in the steady-state concentration of reactive oxygen species in the lungs and heart after particulate air pollution inhalation. Environ Health Perspect. 110(8):749-55.
- Gustafson P, Barregard L, Strandberg B, Sällsten G, 2007. The impact of domestic wood burning on personal, indoor and outdoor levels of 1,3-butadiene, benzene, formaldehyde and acetaldehyde. J Environ Monit. 9:23-32.
- Gwaze P, Schmid O, Annegarn HJ, Andreae MO, Huth J, Helas G, 2006. Comparison of three methods of fractal analysis applied to soot aggregates from wood combustion. J Aerosol Sci. 37:820-838.
- Han Y, Cao J, Chow JC, Watson JG, An Z, Jin Z, Fung K, Liu S, 2007. Evaluation of the thermal/optical reflectance method for discrimination between char- and soot-EC. Chemosphere. 69:569-574.
- HansenJ, Nazarenko L, 2004. Soot climate forcing via snow and ice albedos. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 101:423-428.

- Happo MS, Hirvonen MR, Halinen AI, Jalava PI, Pennanen AS, Sillanpaa M, Hillamo R, Salonen RO, 2008. Chemical compositions responsible for inflammation and tissue damage in the mouse lung by coarse and fine particulate samples from contrasting air pollution in Europe. Inhal Toxicol. 20:1215-1231.
- Happo MS, Salonen RO, Hälinen AI, Jalava PI, Pennanen AS, Kosma VM, Sillanpää M, Hillamo R, Brunekreef B, Katsouyanni K, Sunyer J, Hirvonen MR, 2007. Dose and time dependency of inflammatory responses in the mouse lung to urban air coarse, fine, and ultrafine particles from six European cities. Inhal Toxicol. 19:227-246.
- Hays MD, Smith ND, Kinsey J, Dong Y, Kariher P, 2003. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon size distributions in aerosols from appliances of residential wood combustion as determined by direct thermal desorption-GC/MS. J Aerosol Sci. 34:1061-1084.
- Height M, Mädler L, Pratsinis S, 2006. Nanorods of ZnO made by flame spray pyrolysis. Chem Mater. 18:572-578.
- Hellén H, Hakola H, Haaparanta S, Pietarila H, Kauhaniemi M, 2008: Influence of residential wood combustion on local air quality. Sci Total Environ. 393:283-290.
- Heringa MF, Decarlo PF, Chirico R, Tritscher T, Dommen J, Weingartner E, Richter R, Wehrle G, Prevot ASH, Baltensperger U, 2011. Investigations of primary and secondary particulate matter of different wood combustion appliances with a high-resolution time-of-flight aerosol mass spectrometer. Atmos Chem Phys. 11:8081-8113.
- Hernandez-Garduno E, Brauer M, Perez-Neria J, Vedal S, 2004. Wood smoke exposure and lung adenocarcinoma in nonsmoking Mexican women. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 8(3):377-383.
- Hindsgaul C, Schramm J, Gratz L, Henriksen U, Dall Bentzen J, 2000. Physical and chemical characterization of particles in producer gas from wood chips. Bioresource Technol. 73:147-155.
- Ho M, Wu KY, Chein HM, Chen LC, Cheng TJ, 2011. Pulmonary toxicity of inhaled nanoscale and fine zinc oxide particles: mass and surface area as an exposure metric. Inhal Toxicol. 23(14):947-956.
- Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, Woods R, Elliott WM, Buzatu L, Cherniack RM, Rogers RM, Sciurba FC, Coxson HO, Paré PD, 2004. The nature of smallairway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med. 350(26):2645-2653.
- Hsiao IL, Huang YJ, 2011. Effects of various physicochemical characteristics on the toxicities of ZnO and TiO2 nanoparticles toward human lung epithelial cells. Sci Total Environ. 409: 1219-1228.
- Hu W, Downward GS, Reiss B, Xu J, Bassig BA, Hosgood HD 3rd, Zhang L, Seow WJ, Wu G, Chapman RS, Tian L, Wei F, Vermeulen R, Lan Q, 2014. Personal and indoor PM2.5 exposure from burning solid fuels in vented and unvented stoves in a rural region of China with a high incidence of lung cancer. Environ Sci Technol. 48(15):8456-8464.

- IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2013 (AR5). Cubasch UD, Wuebbles D, Chen MC, Facchini D, Frame N, Mahowald, J.-G. Winther.
- Jacobson M, 2001. Strong radiative heating due to the mixing state of black carbon in atmospheric aerosols. Nature. 409:695-697.
- Jacobson MZ, 2010. Short-term effects of controlling fossil-fuel soot, biofuel soot and gases, and methane on climate, Arctic ice, and air pollution health. J Geophys Res. 115:D14209.
- Jalava PI, Happo MS, Kelz J, Brunner T, Hakulinen P, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Huikkanen A, Jokiniemi J, Obernberger I, Hirvonen MR, 2012. In vitro toxicological characterization of particulate emissions from residential biomass heating systems based on old and new technologies. Atmos Environ 50:24-35.
- Jalava PI, Salonen RO, Nuutinen K, Pennanen AS, Happo MS, Tissari J, Frey A, Hillamo R, Jokiniemi J, Hirvonen MR, 2010. Effect of combustion condition on cytotoxic and inflammatory activity of residential wood combustion particles. Atmos Environ. 44:1691-1698.
- Jalava PI, Salonen RO, Pennanen AS, Sillanpää M, Hälinen AI, Happo MS, Hillamo R, Brunekreef B, Katsouyanni K, Sunyer J, Hirvonen MR, 2007. Heterogeneities in inflammatory and cytotoxic responses of RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line to urban air coarse, fine, and ultrafine particles from six European sampling campaigns. Inhal Toxicol. 19(3):213-225.
- Jeon TW, Jin CH, Lee SK, Lee DW, Hyun SH, Kim GH, Jun IH, Lee BM, Yum YN, Kim JK, Kim OH, Jeong TC, 2005. In vivo and in vitro immunosuppressive effects of benzo[k]fluoranthene in female Balb/c mice. J Toxicol Environ Health Part A. 68:2033-2050.
- Jerome KR, Sloan DD, Aubert M, 2003. Measurement of CTL-induced cytotoxicity: the caspase 3 assay. Apoptosis. 8(6):563-571.
- Johansson LS, Leckner B, Gustavsson L, Cooper D, Tullin C, Potter A, 2004. Emission characteristics of modern and old type residential boilers fired with wood logs and wood pellets. Atmos Environ. 38:4183-4195.
- Johansson LS, Tullin C, Leckner B, Sjövall P, 2003. Particle Emissions from biomass combustion in small combustors. Biomass Bioenergy 25:435-446.
- Jones F, Bankiewicz D, Hupa M, 2014. Occurrence and sources of zinc in fuels. Fuel. 117:763-775.
- Jordan TB, Seen AJ, 2005. Effect of airflow setting on the organic composition of woodheater emissions. Environ Sci Technol. 39:3601-3610.
- Karlsson HL, Ljungman AG, Lindbom J, Möller L, 2006. Comparison of genotoxic and inflammatory effects of particles generated by wood combustion, a road simulator and collected from street and subway. Toxicol Lett. 165:203-211.
- Karvosenoja N, Tainio M, Kupiainen K, Tuomisto JT, Kukkonen J, Johansson M, 2008. Evaluation of the emissions and uncertainties of PM2.5 originated from vehicular traffic and domestic wood combustion in Finland. Boreal Environ Res. 13:465-474
- Kelly FJ, Fussell JC, 2012. Size, source and chemical composition as determinants of toxicity attributable to ambient particulate matter. Atmos Environ. 60:504-526.

- Kelz J, Brunner T, Obernberger I, Jalava P, Hirvonen M-R, 2010. Untersuchung des esundheitsgefährungspotentials von Feinstaubemissionen aus Biomasse-Kleinfeuerungsanlagen. Endbericht Teil 1, Bericht Nr. TR I-2-13 01, BIOENERGY 2020+ GmbH (ed.), Graz, Austria (In German).
- Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, 2009. Pyroptosis a cell death modality of its kind? Eur J Immunol. 40(3):627-630.
- King KL, Cidlowski JA, 1998. Cell cycle regulation and apoptosis. Annu Rev Physiol. 60: 601-617.
- Kirkland D, Aardema M, Henderson L, Müller L, 2005. Evaluation of the ability of a battery of three in vitro genotoxicity tests to discriminate rodent carcinogens and non-carcinogens I. Sensitivity, specificity and relative predictivity. Mutat Res. 584(1-2):1-256.
- Klippel N, Nussbaumer T: Wirkung von verbrennungspartikeln. Vergleich der Gesundheitsrelevanz von Holzfeuerungen und Dieselmotoren 2007. Final report to Eidgenössisches Department für Umwelt, Verkehr, Energie und Kommunikation (UVEK), Switzerland. [http://www.verenum.ch/Publikationen/SBPartikelw.pdf]
- Kliucininkas L, Martuzevicius D, Krugly E, Prasauskas T, Kauneliene V, Molnar P, Strandberg B, 2011. Indoor and outdoor concentrations of fine particles, particle-bound PAHs and volatile organic compounds in Kaunas, Lithuania. J Environ Monit. 13(1):182-191.
- Knaapen AM, Borm PJ, Albrecht C, Schins RP, 2004. Inhaled particles and lung cancer. Part A: Mechanisms. Int J Cancer. 109(6):799-809.
- Knudsen JN, Jensen PA, Dam Johansen K, 2004. Transformation and release to the gas phase of Cl, K, and S during combustion of annual biomass. Energy Fuels. 18:1385-1399.
- Kocbach A, Herseth JI, Låg M, Refsnes M, Schwarze PE, 2008b. Particles from wood smoke and traffic induce differential pro-inflammatory response patterns in co-cultures. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 232:317-326.
- Kocbach A, Johansen BV, Schwarze PE, Namork E, 2005. Analytical electron microscopy of combustion particles: a comparison of vehicle exhaust and residential wood smoke. Sci Total Environ 346:231-243.
- Kocbach A, Namork E, Schwarze PE, 2008a. Pro-inflammatory potential of wood smoke and traffic-derived particles in a monocytic cell line. Toxicol. 247:123-132.
- Kocbach Bølling A, Pagels J, Yttri KE, Barregård L, Sällsten G, Schwarze PE, Boman C, 2009. Health effects of residential wood smoke particles: the importance of combustion conditions and physicochemical particle properties. Part Fibre Toxicol. 6:29.
- Kofler S, Nickel T, Weis M, 2005. Role of cytokines in cardiovascular diseases: a focus on endothelial responses to inflammation. Clin Sci (Lond). 108:205-213.
- Kong LY, Luster MI, Dixon D, O'Grady J, Rosenthal GJ, 1994. Inhibition of lung immunity after intratracheal instillation of benzo(a)pyrene. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 150:1123-1129.
- Kozinski JA, Saade R, 1998. Effect of biomass burning on the formation of soot particles and heavy hydrocarbons. An experimental study. Fuel. 71:225-231.

- Krecl P, Larsson EH, Strom J, Johansson C, 2008. Contribution of residential wood combustion and other sources to hourly winter aerosol in Northern Sweden determined by positive matrix factorization. Atmos Chem Phys. 8:3639-3653.
- Krezel A, Hao Q, Maret W, 2007. The zinc/thiolate redox biochemistry of metallothionein and the control of zinc ion fluctuations in cell signaling. Arch Biochem Biophys. 463(2):188-200.
- Krook J, Mårtensson A, Eklund M, 2006. Sources of heavy metal contamination in Swedish wood waste used for combustion. Waste Manag. 26(2):158-166.
- Könczöl M, Goldenberg E, Ebeling S, Schäfer B, Garcia-Käufer M, Gminski R, Grobéty B, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Merfort I, Gieré R, Mersch-Sundermann V, 2012. Cellular uptake and toxic effects of fine and ultrafine metal-sulfate particles in human A549 lung epithelial cells. Chem Res Toxicol. 25(12):2687-2703.
- Lalonde C, Picard L, Campbell C, Demling R, 1994. Lung and systemic oxidant and antioxidant activity after graded smoke exposure in the rat. Circ Shock. 42(1):7-13.
- Lamberg H, Nuutinen K, Tissari J, Ruusunen J, Yli-Pirilä P, Sippula O, Tapanainen M, Jalava P, Makkonen U, Teinilä K, Saarnio K, Hillamo R, Hirvonen, MR, Jokiniemi J, 2011. Physicochemical characterization of fine particles from small-scale wood combustion. Atmos Environ. 45:7635-7643.
- Lamberg H, Tissari J, Jokiniemi J, Sippula O, 2013. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from a small-scale boiler fueled by pellets of various raw materials. Energy Fuels. 27:7044-7053.
- Landsiedel R, Kapp MD, Schulz M, Wiench K, Oesch F, 2009. Genotoxicity investigations on nanomaterials: methods, preparation and characterization of test material, potential artifacts and limitations--many questions, some answers. Mutat Res. 681(2-3):241-258.
- Lecoeur H, 2002. Nuclear apoptosis detection by flow cytometry: influence of endogenous endonucleases. Exp Cell Res. 277(1):1-14.
- Lee RGM, Coleman P, Jones JL, Jones KC, Lohmann R, 2005. Emission factors and importance of PCDD/Fs, PCBs, PCNs, PAHs and PM10 from the domestic burning of coal and wood in the U.K. Environ Sci Technol. 39:1436-1447.
- Lequin RM, 2005. Enzyme immunoassay (EIA)/enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Clin Chem. 51(12):2415-2418.
- Leskinen J, Tissari J, Uski O, Vireń A, Torvela T, Kaivosoja T, Lamberg H, Nuutinen I, Kettunen T, Joutsensaari J Jalava P, Sippula O, Hirvonen MR, Jokiniemi J, 2014. Fine particle emissions in three different combustion conditions of a wood chip-fired appliance – Particulate physico-chemical properties and induced cell death. Atmos Environ 86, 129-139.
- Li N, Hao M, Phalen RF, Hinds WC, Nel AE, 2003. Particulate air pollutants and asthma. A paradigm for the role of oxidative stress in PM-induced adverse health effects. Clin Immunol. 109(3):250-265.
- Lippmann M, Chen LC, 2009. Health effects of concentrated ambient air particulate matter (CAPs) and its components. Crit Rev Toxicol. 39(10):865-913.

- Longhin E, Holme JA, Gutzkow KB, Arlt VM, Kucab JE, Camatini M, Gualtieri M, 2013. Cell cycle alterations induced by urban PM2.5 in bronchial epithelial cells: characterization of the process and possible mechanisms involved. Part Fibre Toxicol. 10:63.
- Lyyränen J, Backman U, Tapper U, Auvinen A, Jokiniemi J, 2009. A size selective nanoparticle collection device based on diffusion and thermophoresis. J Phys Conf Ser. 170: 012011.
- Löndahl J, Massling A, Pagels J, Swietlicki E, Vaclavik E, Loft S, 2007. Sizeresolved respiratory-tract deposition of fine and ultrafine hydrophobic and hygroscopic aerosol particles during rest and exercise. Inhal Toxicol. 19:109-116.
- Madl AK, Pinkerton KE, 2009. Health effects of inhaled engineered and incidental nanoparticles. Crit Rev Toxicol. 39:629-658.
- Magdolenova Z, Collins A, Kumar A, Dhawan A, Stone V, Dusinska M, 2014. Mechanisms of genotoxicity. A review of in vitro and in vivo studies with engineered nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology. 8(3):233-278.
- Mahmoudi M, Azadmanesh K, Shokrgozar MA, Journeay WS, Laurent S, 2011. Effect of nanoparticles on the cell life cycle. Chem Rev. 111(5):3407-3432.
- Mandalakis M, Gustafsson O, Alsberg T, Egeback AL, Reddy CM, Xu L, Klanova J, Holoubek I, Stephanou EG, 2005. Contribution of biomass burning to atmospheric polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons at three European background sites. Environ Sci Technol. 39:2976-2982.
- Mannino DM, Buist AS, 2007. Global burden of COPD: risk factors, prevalence, and future trends. Lancet. 370(9589):765-773.
- Marchand N, Besombes JL, Chevron N, Masclet P, Aymoz G, Jaffrezo JL, 2004. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the atmospheres of two French alpine valleys: sources and temporal patterns. Atm Chem Phys. 4:1167-1181.
- Marchini T, Magnani ND, Paz ML, Vanasco V, Tasat D, González Maglio DH, Alvarez S, Evelson PA, 2014. Time course of systemic oxidative stress and inflammatory response induced by an acute exposure to Residual Oil Fly Ash. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 274(2):274-282.
- Martinelli N, Olivieri O, Girelli D. 2013. Air particulate matter and cardiovascular disease: a narrative review. Eur J Intern Med. 24(4):295-302.
- Mauderly JL, Burnett RT, Castillejos M, Ozkaynak H, Samet JM, Stieb DM, Vedal S, Wyzga RE, 2010 Is the air pollution health research community prepared to support a multipollutant air quality management framework? Inhal Toxicol. 22(Suppl):1-19.
- Mavrocordatos D, Kaegi R, Schmatloch V, 2002. Fractal analysis of wood combustion aggregates by contact mode atomic force microscopy. Atm Environ. 36:5653-5660.
- Mazouzi A, Velimezi G, Loizou JI, 2014. DNA replication stress: Causes, resolution and disease. Exp Cell Res. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.09.030.
- Mazzoleni LR, Zielinska B, Moosmuller H, 2007. Emissions of levoglucosan, methoxy phenols, and organic acids from prescribed burns, laboratory combustion of wildland fuels, and residential wood combustion. Environ Sci Technol. 41:2115-2122.

- McCreanor J, Cullinan P, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Stewart-Evans J, Malliarou E, Jarup L, Harrington R, Svartengren M, Han IK, Ohman-Strickland P, Chung KF, Zhang J, 2007. Respiratory effects of exposure to diesel traffic in persons with asthma. N Engl J Med. 357(23):2348-2358.
- McDonald JD, Zielinska B, Fujita EM, Sagebiel J, Chow GM, Watson JG, 2000. Fine particle and gaseous emission rates from residential wood combustion. Environ Sci Technol. 34:2080-2091.
- McGowan JA, Hider RN, Chacko E, Town GI, 2002. P articulate air pollution and hospital admissions in Christchurch, New Zealand. Aust. N ZJ Public Health. 26(1):23-29.
- Migliaccio CT, Kobos E, King QO, Porter V, Jessop F, Ward T, 2013. Adverse effects of wood smoke PM(2.5) exposure on macrophage functions. Inhal Toxicol. 25(2):67-76.
- Mills NL, Donaldson K, Hadoke PW, Boon NA, MacNee W, Cassee FR, Sandstrom T, Blomberg A, Newby, DE, 2009. Adverse cardiovascular effects of air pollution. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 6(1):36-44.
- Mirabelli MC, Kunzli N, Avol E, Gilliland FD, Gauderman WJ, McConnell R, Peters JM, 2009. Respiratory symptoms following wildfire smoke exposure: airway size as a susceptibility factor. Epidemioloigy. 20:451-459.
- Molinelli AR, Madden MC, McGee JK, Stonehuerner JG, Ghio AJ, 2002. Effect of metal removal on the toxicity of airborne particulate matter from the Utah Valley. Inhal Toxicol. 14(10):1069-1086.
- Molnar P, Gustafson P, Johannesson S, Boman J, Barregard L, Sällsten G, 2005. Domestic wood burning and PM2.5 trace elements: Personal exposures, indoor and outdoor levels. Atm Environ. 39:2643-2653.
- Moos PJ, Chung K, Woessner D, Honeggar M, Cutler NS, Veranth JM, 2010. ZnO particulate matter requires cell contact for toxicity in human colon cancer cells. Chem Res Toxicol. 23(4):733-739.
- Mortelmans K, Zeiger E, 2000. The Ames Salmonella/microsome mutagenicity assay. Mutat Res. 455(1-2):29-60.
- Motykiewicz G, Michalska J, Szeliga J, Konopacka M, Tkocz A, Hadnagy W, Chorazy M, Seemayer NH, 1990. Genotoxicity of airborne suspended matter Determined by in vitro and in vivo short-term assays. Environmental Hygiene II. pp 17-21.
- Mädler L, Kammler HK, Muller RM, Pratsinis SE, 2002. Controlled synthesis of nanostructured particles by flame spray pyrolysis. J Aerosol Sci. 33(2):161-181.
- Naeher LP, Brauer M, Lipsett M, Zelikoff JT, Simpson CD, Koenig JQ, Smith KR, 2007. Woodsmoke health effects: a review. Inhal Toxicol. 19(1):67-106.
- Nemmar A, Holme JA, Rosas I, Schwarze PE, Alfaro-Moreno E, 2013. Recent Advances in Particulate Matter and Nanoparticle Toxicology: A Review of the In Vivo and In Vitro Studies. Biomed Res Int 2013:27937.
- Nicoletti I, Migliorati G, Pagliacci MC, Grignani F, Riccardi C, 1991. A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. J Immunol Meth. 139:271-279.
- NIOSH, 1999. Elemental Carbon (Diesel Particulate), NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods (NMAM), NIOSH, Method 5040, 5043.

- Noonan CW, Ward TJ, 2012. Asthma randomized trial of indoor wood smoke (ARTIS): rationale and methods. Contemp Clin Trials. 33(5):1080-1087.
- Novák J, Hilscherová K, Landlová L, Čupr P, Kohút L, Giesy JP, Klánová J, 2014. Composition and effects of inhalable size fractions of atmospheric aerosols in the polluted atmosphere. Part II. In vitro biological potencies. Environ Int. 63:64-70.
- Nussbaumer T, 2003. Combustion and co-combustion of biomass: fundamentals, technologies, and primary measures for emission reduction. Energy Fuels. 17(6):1510–1521.
- Obaidullah M, Bram S, Verma VK, De Ruyck J, 2012. A review on particle emissions from small scale biomass combustion. IJRER. 2:147-159.
- Oberdorster G, 1996. Significance of particle parameters in the evaluation of exposure-dose-response relationships of inhaled particles. Inhal Toxicol. 8 Suppl:73-89.
- Oberdörster G, 1995. Lung particle overload: implications for occupational exposures to particles. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 21(1):123-135.
- Oberdörster G, 2002. Toxicokinetics and effects of fibrous and nonfibrous particles. Inhal Toxicol. 14(1):29-56.
- Orozco-Levi M, Garcia-Aymerich J, Villar J, Ramirez-Sarmiento A, Anto JM, Gea J, 2006. Wood smoke exposure and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 27:542-546.
- Oser M, Nussbaumer T, Schweizer B, Mohr M, Figi R, 2001. Influences on aerosol formation in an automatic wood furnace. In: Nussbaumer, T. (ed.). Aerosols from biomass combustion. Verenum, Zürich, 59-64.
- Pope CA 3rd, Dockery DW, 2006. Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. J Air Waste Manag Assoc. 56(6):709-742.
- President Obama's Climate Action Plan. Jane A. Leggett, Coordinator Specialist in Energy and Environmental Policy. May 28, 2014, Congressional Research Service, 7-5700, www.crs.gov, R43120. [http://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43120.pdf]
- Pyykönen J, Miettinen M, Sippula O, Leskinen A, Raunemaa T, Jokiniemi J, 2007. Nucleation in a perforated tube diluter. J Aerosol Sci. 38:172–191.
- Qian Z, He Q, Kong L, Xu F, Wei F, Chapman RS, Chen W, Edwards RD, Bascom R, 2007. Respiratory responses to diverse indoor combustion air pollution sources. Indoor Air. 17(2):135-42.
- Ramanathan V, Carmichael G, 2008. Global and regional climate changes due to black carbon. Nat Geosci. 1:221-227.
- Ramos C, Pedraza-Chaverri J, Becerril C, Cisneros J, González-Ávila G, Rivera-Rosales R, Sommer B, Medina-Campos ON, Montaño M, 2013. Oxidative stress and lung injury induced by short-term exposure to wood smoke in guinea pigs. Toxicol Mech Methods. 23(9):711-722.
- Rastrick J, Birrell M, 2014. The role of the inflammasome in fibrotic respiratory diseases. Minerva Med. 105(1):9-23.
- Reed MD, Campen MJ, Gigliotti AP, Harrod KS, McDonald JD, Seagrave JC, Mauderly JL, Seilkop SK, 2006. Health effects of subchronic exposure to environmental levels of hardwood smoke. Inhal Toxicol. 18:523-539.

- Riddervold IS, Bønløkke JH, Olin AC, Grønborg TK, Schlünssen V, Skogstrand K, Hougaard D, Massling A, Sigsgaard T, 2012. Effects of wood smoke particles from wood-burning stoves on the respiratory health of atopic humans. Part Fibre Toxicol. 9:12.
- Risom L, Møller P, Loft S, 2005. Oxidative stress-induced DNA damage by particulate air pollution. Mutat Res. 592(1-2):119-37.
- Riva DR, Magalhães CB, Lopes AA, Lanças T, Mauad T, Malm O, Valença SS, Saldiva PH, Faffe DS, Zin WA, 2011. Low dose of fine particulate matter (PM2.5) can induce acute oxidative stress, inflammation and pulmonary impairment in healthy mice. Inhal Toxicol. 23(5):257-267.
- Rowell R, 1984. The chemistry of solid wood. Publication Date (Print): May 05, (102) 1984.
- Rudolf E, Cervinka M, 2010. Zinc pyrithione induces cellular stress signaling and apoptosis in Hep-2 cervical tumor cells: the role of mitochondria and lysosomes. Biometals. 23(2):339-354.
- Rudolf E, Cervinka M, 2011. Stress responses of human dermal fibroblasts exposed to zinc pyrithione. Toxicol Lett 204:164-173.
- Rudolf E, Rudolf K, Cervinka M, 2005. Zinc induced apoptosis in HEP-2 cancer cells: the role of oxidative stress and mitochondria. Biofactors. 23(2):107-120.
- Ruusunen J, Tapanainen M, Sippula O, Jalava PI, Lamberg H, Nuutinen K, Tissari J, Ihalainen M, Kuuspalo K, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Hakulinen P, Pennanen A, Teinilä K, Makkonen U, Salonen RO, Hillamo R, Hirvonen MR, Jokiniemi J, 2011. A novel particle sampling system for physico-chemical and toxicological characterization of emissions. Anal Bioanal Chem. 401:3183-3195.
- Saarikoski SK, Sillanpää MK, Saarnio KM, Hillamo RE, Pennanen AS, Salonen RO, 2008. Impact of biomass combustion on urban fine particulate matter in Central and Northern Europe. Water Air Soil Pollut. 191:265-277.
- Saldiva PH, Clarke RW, Coull BA, Stearns RC, Lawrence J, Murthy GG, Diaz E, Koutrakis P, Suh H, Tsuda A, Godleski JJ, 2002. Lung inflammation induced by concentrated ambient air particles is related to particle composition. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 165(12):1610-1617.
- Samuelsen M, Nygaard UC, Løvik M, 2008. Allergy adjuvant effect of particles from wood smoke and road traffic. Toxicology. 246(2-3):124-131.
- Sarkar A, Ghosh M, Sil PC, 2014. Nanotoxicity: oxidative stress mediated toxicity of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles. J Nanosci Nanotechnol. 14(1):730-743.
- Sarnat JA, Marmur A, Klein M, Kim E, Russell AG, Sarnat SE, Mulholland JA, Hopke PK, Tolbert PE, 2008. Fine particle sources and cardiorespiratory morbidity: an application of chemical mass balance and factor analytical source-apportionment methods. Environ Health Perspect. 116:459-466.
- Schauer JJ, Kleeman MJ, Cass GR, Simoneit BRT, 2001. Measurement of emissions from air pollution sources. 3. C1 - C29 Organic compounds from fireplace combustion of wood. Environ Sci Technol. 35:1716-1728.
- Schins RP, Knaapen AM: Genotoxicity of poorly soluble particles, 2007. Inhal Toxicol. 19(Suppl 1):189-198.

- Schins RPF, Lightbody JH, Borm PJA, Shi T, Donaldson K, Stone V, 2004. Inflammatory effects of coarse and fine particulate matter in relation to chemical and biological constituents. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 195:1-11.
- Schoonen MAA. Cohn CA, Roemer E, Laffers R, Simon SR, O'Riordan T, 2006. Mineral-induced formation of reactive oxygen species. Rev. Mineral. Geochem. 64:349.
- Schreuder AB, Larson TV, Sheppard L, Claiborn CS, 2006. Ambient woodsmoke and associated respiratory emergency department visits in Spokane, Washington. Int J Occup Environ Health. 12:147-153.
- Schwarze PE, Øvrevik J, Låg M, Refsnes M, Nafstad P, Hetland RB, Dybing E, 2006. Particulate matter properties and health effects: consistency of epidemiological and toxicological studies. Hum Exp Toxicol. 25:559-579.
- Seagrave J, McDonald JD, Bedrick E, Edgerton ES, Gigliotti AP, Jansen JJ, Ke L, Naeher LP, Seilkop SK, Zheng M, Mauderly JL, 2006. Lung toxicity of ambient particulate matter from southeastern U.S. sites with different contributing sources: relationships between composition and effects. Environ Health Perspect. 114(9):1387-1393.
- Seagrave J, McDonald JD, Reed MD, Seilkop SK, Mauderly JL, 2005. Responses to subchronic inhalation of low concentrations of diesel exhaust and hardwood smoke measured in rat bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. Inhal Toxicol. 17:657-670.
- Sehlstedt M, Dove R, Boman C, Pagels J, Swietlicki E, Löndahl J, Westerholm R, Bosson J, Barath S, Behndig AF, Pourazar J, Sandström T, Mudway IS, Blomberg A, 2010. Antioxidant airway responses following experimental exposure to wood smoke in man. Part Fibre Toxicol. 7:21.
- Sevastyanova O, Binkova B, Topinka J, Sram RJ, Kalina I, Popov T, Novakova Z, Farmer PB, 2007. In vitro genotoxicity of PAH mixtures and organic extract from urban air particles part II: human cell lines. Mutat Res. 620(1-2):123-134
- Sharma V, Anderson D, Dhawan A, 2012. Zinc oxide nanoparticles induce oxidative DNA damage and ROS-triggered mitochondria mediated apoptosis in human liver cells (HepG2). Apoptosis. 17(8): 852-870.
- Shih RS, Wong SH, Schoene NW, Lei KY, 2008. Suppression of Gadd45 alleviates the G2/M blockage and the enhanced phosphorylation of p53 and p38 in zinc supplemented normal human bronchial epithelial cells. Exp Biol Med. 233:317-327.
- Shvedova AA, Kisin E, Murray AR, Johnson VJ, Gorelik O, Arepalli S, et al. Inhalation vs. aspiration of single-walled carbon nanotubes in C57BL/6 mice: inflammation, fibrosis, oxidative stress and mutagenesis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 295:552-565.
- Silbajoris R, Osornio-Vargas AR, Simmons SO, Reed W, Bromberg PA, Dailey LA, Samet JM, 2011. Ambient particulate matter induces interleukin-8 expression through an alternative NF-κB (nuclear factor-kappa B) mechanism in human airway epithelial cells. Environ Health Perspect. 119(10):1379-1383.
- Singh NP, McCoy MT, Tice RR, Schneider EL, 1988. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. Exp Cell Res. 175:184-191.
- Sippula O, Hokkinen J, Puustinen H, YliPirilä P, Jokiniemi J, 2007a. Fine particle emissions from biomass and heavy fuel oil combustion without effective filtration (BIOPOR). VTT Working Papers 72, VTT, Espoo.
- Sippula O, Hokkinen J, Puustinen H, Yli-Pirilä P, Jokiniemi J, 2009. Comparison of particle emissions from small heavy fuel oil and wood-fired boilers. Atmos Environ. 43:4855-4864.
- Sippula O, Hytönen K, Tissari J, Raunemaa T, Jokiniemi J, 2007b. Effect of wood fuel on the emissions from a top-feed pellet stove. Energy Fuels. 21:1151-1160.
- Sippula O, Koponen T, Jokiniemi J, 2012. Behavior of alkali metal aerosol in a high-temperature porous tube sampling probe. Aerosol Sci Technol. 46:1151-1162.
- Smith KR, Mehta S, Maeusezahl-Feuz M, 2004. Indoor smoke from household solid fuels. In Comparative quantification of health risks: Global and regional burden of disease due to selected major risk factors, eds. M. Ezzati, A. D. Rodgers, A. D. Lopez and C. J. L. Murray. Vol. 2, pp. 1435–1493. Geneva:World Health Organization.
- Squadrito GL, Cueto R, Dellinger B, Pryor WA, 2001. Quinoid redox cycling as a mechanism for sustained free radical generation by inhaled airborne particulate matter. Free Radic Biol Med. 31(9):1132-11328.
- Stockfelt L, Sallsten G, Almerud P, Basu S, Barregard L, 2013. Short-term chamber exposure to low doses of two kinds of wood smoke does not induce systemic inflammation, coagulation or oxidative stress in healthy humans. Inhal Toxicol. 25(8):417-425.
- Stockfelt L, Sallsten G, Olin AC, Almerud P, Samuelsson L, Johannesson S, Molnar P, Strandberg B, Almstrand AC, Bergemalm-Rynell K, Barregard L, 2012. Effects on airways of short-term exposure to two kinds of wood smoke in a chamber study of healthy humans. Inhal Toxicol. 24(1):47-59.
- Sällsten G, Gustafson P, Johansson L, Johannesson S, Molnar P, Strandberg B, Tullin C, Barregard L, 2006. Experimental wood smoke exposure in humans. Inhal Toxicol. 18:855-864.
- Sørensen M,. Schins RPF, Hertel O, Loft S, 2005. Transition metals in personal samples of PM2.5 and oxidative stress in human volunteers. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 1340-1343.
- Tao F, Gonzalez-Flecha B, Kobzik L, 2003. Reactive oxygen species in pulmonary inflammation by ambient particulates. Free Radic Biol Med. 35:327-340.
- Tapanainen M, Jalava PI, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Hakulinen P, Happo MS, Lamberg H, Ruusunen J, Tissari J, Nuutinen K, Yli-Pirilä P, Hillamo R, Salonen RO, Jokiniemi J, Hirvonen MR, 2011. In vitro immunotoxic and genotoxic activities of particles emitted from two different small-scale wood combustion appliances. Atmos Environ. 45:7546-7554.
- Tapanainen M, Jalava PI, Mäki-Paakkanen J, Hakulinen P, Lamberg H, Ruusunen J, Tissari J, Jokiniemi J, Hirvonen MR, 2012. Efficiency of log wood combustion affects the toxicological and chemical properties of emission particles. Inhal Toxicol. 6:343-355.

- Tesfaigzi Y, McDonald JD, Reed MD, Singh SP, De Sanctis GT, Eynott PR, Hahn FF, Campen MJ, Mauderly JL, 2005. Low-level subchronic exposure to wood smoke exacerbates inflammatory responses in allergic rats. Toxicol Sci. 88:505-513.
- Tesfaigzi Y, Singh SP, Foster JE, Kubatko J, Barr EB, Fine PM, McDonald JD, Hahn FF, Mauderly JL. Health effects of subchronic exposure to low levels of wood smoke in rats, 2002. Toxicol Sci. 65(1):115-125.
- Tice RR, Agurell E, Anderson D, Burlinson B, Hartmann A, Kobayashi H, Miyamae Y, Rojas E, Ryu JC, Sasaki YF, 2000. Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for in vitro and in vivo genetic toxicology testing. Environ Mol Mutagen 35(3):206-221.
- Tissari J, Lyyränen J, Hytönen K, Sippula O, Tapper U, Frey A, Saarnio K, Pennanen AS, Hillamo R, Salonen RO, Hirvonen MR, Jokiniemi J, 2008. Fine particle and gaseous emissions from normal and smouldering wood combustion in a conventional masonry heater. Atmos Environ. 42:7862-7873.
- Torvela T, Tissari J, Sippula O, Kaivosoja T, Leskinen J, Vireń A, Lähde A, Jokiniemi J, 2014. Effect of wood combustion conditions on the morphology of freshly emitted fine particles. Atmos Environ. 87:65-76.
- Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Koumallos N, Stefanadis C, 2006. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in acute coronary syndromes: from bench to bedside. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 17:225-233.
- Tucker WG, 2001. Volatile organic compounds. In: Spengler JD, Samet JM, McCarthy JF, (Ed.). Indoor air quality handbook. McGrawHill, New York, Chapter 31, 1–20.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2004. Air quality criteria for particulate matter. Publication EPA/600/P-99/002aF. Research Triangle Park, NC: USEPA Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment RTP Office.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2009. Integrated science assessment for particulate matter. Research Triangle Park: NCEA-RTP Office. EPA/600/R- 08/139F EPA/600/R-08/139F.
- Unosson J, Blomberg A, Sandström T, Muala A, Boman C, Nyström R, Westerholm R, Mills NL, Newby DE, Langrish JP, Bosson JA, 2013. Exposure to wood smoke increases arterial stiffness and decreases heart rate variability in humans. Part Fibre Toxicol. 10:20.
- Wallenborn JG, Schladweiler MJ, Richards JH, Kodavanti UP, 2009. Differential pulmonary and cardiac
- effects of pulmonary exposure to a panel of particulate matter-associated metals. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 241(1):71-80.
- Walters DM, Breysse PN, Wills-Karp M, 2001. Ambient urban Baltimore particulate-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 164:1438-1443.
- Walther UI, Czermak A, Mückter H, Walther SC, Fichtl B, 2003. Decreased GSSG reductase activity enhances cellular zinc toxicity in three human lung cell lines. Arch Toxicol. 77:131-137

- Walther UI, Wilhelm B, Walther S, Mückter H, Fichtl B, 2000. Zinc toxicity in various lung cell lines is mediated by glutathione and GSSG reductase activity. Biol Trace Elem Res. 78(1-3):163-177.
- van Eeden SF, Tan WC, Suwa T, Mukae H, Terashima T, Fujii T, Qui D, Vincent R, Hogg JC, 2001. Cytokines involved in the systemic inflammatory response induced by exposure to particulate matter air pollutants (PM(10)). Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 164(5):826-830.
- Wang D, Pakbin P, Shafer MM, Antkiewicz D, Schauer JJ, Sioutaset C, 2013. Macrophage reactive oxygen species activity of water-soluble and waterinsoluble fractions of ambient coarse, PM2.5 and ultrafine particulate matter (PM) in Los Angeles. Atmos Environ. 77:301-310.
- Ward T, Lange T, 2010. The impact of wood smoke on ambient PM2.5 in northern Rocky Mountain valley communities. Environ Pollut, 158:723-729.
- Verhoeven L, de Andrade Oliveira M, Lantz A, Li B, Li Z, Luijten C, van Oijen J, Aldn M, de Goey L, 2013. A numerical and experimental study of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in a laminar diffusion flame. Proc Combust Inst. 34(1):1819-1826.
- Vermes I, Haanen C, Steffens-Nakken H, Reutelingsperger C, 1995. A novel assay for apoptosis. Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled Annexin V. J Immunol Methods. 184(1):39-51.
- Weyermann J, Lochmann D, Zimmer A, 2005. A practical note on the use of cytotoxicity assays. Int J Pharm. 288(2):369-376.
- Wierzbicka A, Lillieblad L, Pagels J, Strand M, Gudmundsson A, Gharibi A, Swietlicki E, Sanati M, Bohgard M, 2005. Particle emissions from district heating units operating on three commonly used biofuels. Atm Environ. 39:139-150.
- Wiinikka H, Gronberg C, Boman C, 2013. Emissions of heavy metals during fixedbed combustion of six biomass fuels. Energy Fuels. 27:1073-1080.
- Wilson JM, Baeza-Romero M T, Jones JM, Pourkashanian M, Williams A, Lea-Langton A R, Ross A B, Bartle KD, 2013. Soot formation from the combustion of biomass pyrolysis products and a hydrocarbon fuel, n-decane: an aerosol time of flight mass spectrometer (ATOFMS) study. Energy Fuels. 27:1668-1678.
- Vinatier D, Dufour P, Tordjeman-Rizzi N, Prolongeau JF, Depret-Moser S, Monnier JC, 1995. Immunological aspects of ovarian function: role of the cytokines. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 63(2):155-68.
- Vlahos R, Bozinovski S, 2014. Role of alveolar macrophages in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Front Immunol. 5:435.
- Wong SH, Shih RS, Schoene NW, Lei KY, 2008. Zinc-induced G2/M blockage is p53 and p21 dependent in normal human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 294: C1342-C1349.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2003. Review of health aspects of air pollution with particulate matter, ozone and nitrogen dioxide. Report EUR/03/5042688 of working group, Bonn, Germany, 13-15 January 2003. Copenhagen, Denmark.

- World Health Organization (WHO), 2004. Health aspects of air pollution. Results from the project "Systematic review of health aspects of air pollution in Europe". Copenhagen, Denmark.
- World Health Organization (WHO), International Program of Chemical Safety (ICPS). 1998. Selected non-heterocyclic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Environmental Health Criteria 202. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Wu W, Bromberg PA, Samet JM, 2013. Zinc ions as effectors of environmental oxidative lung injury. Free Radic Biol Med. 65:57-69.
- Xia T, Kovochich M, Liong M, M\u00e4dler L, Gilbert B, Shi H, Yeh JI, Zink JI, Nel AE, 2008. Comparison of the mechanism of toxicity of zinc oxide and cerium oxide nanoparticles based on dissolution and oxidative stress properties. ACS Nano. 2(10):2121-2134.
- Xiao Y, Shao Y, Yu X, Zhou G. The epidemic status and risk factors of lung cancer in Xuanwei City, Yunnan Province, China, 2014. Front Med. (4):388-394.
- Yardley J, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, 2011. Heat health planning: The importance of social and community factors. Global Environ Chang. 21(2): 670-679.
- Yin Y, Lin Q, Sun H, Chen D, Wu Q, Chen X, Li S, 2012. Cytotoxic effects of ZnO hierarchical architectures on RSC96 Schwann cells. Nanoscale Res Lett. 7:439.
- Zhang X, Hecobian A, Zheng M, Frank NH, Weber RJ, 2010. Biomass burning impact on PM2.5 over the southeastern US during 2007: integrating chemically speciated FRM filter measurements, MODIS fire counts and PMF analysis. Atmos Chem Phys Discus. 10:7037-7077.
- Zhang Y, Nguyen KC, Lefebvre DE, Shwed PS, Crosthwait J, Bondy GS, Tayabali AF, 2014. Critical experimental parameters related to the cytotoxicity of zinc oxide nanoparticles. J Nanopart Res. 16:2440.
- Zhang YX, Schauer JJ, Shafer MM, Hannigan MP, Dutton SJ, 2008. Source apportionment of in vitro reactive oxygen species bioassay activity from atmospheric particulate matter. Environ Sci Technol. 42(19): 7502-7509.
- Zielonka J, Zielonka M, Sikora A, Adamus J, Joseph J, Hardy M, Ouari O, Dranka BP, Kalyanaraman B, 2012. Global profiling of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in biological systems: high-throughput real-time analyses. J Biol Chem. 287(5):2984-92985.
- Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ, 2014. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ROS-induced ROS release. Physiol Rev. 94(3):909-950.

APPENDIX

		Typical em	ission factors		
Combustion condition	PM1 (CM/gm)	CO (EM/gm)	(cM/gm)	TC (mg/M)	PAHs (ng/mg particles)
Efficient combustion ¹	0-20	0-200	0-5	0-2	0-300
Intermediate combustion ²	20-50	200-1000	5-50	2-10	300-2000
Incomplete combustion ³	50-100	1000-2500	50-250	10-30	2000-20000
Smouldering combustion 4	100-	2500-	250-	30-	20000-

Appendix 1. Classification of combustion conditions based on typical emission factors.

Abbreviations: PM, particulate matter; OGC, organic gaseous carbon; TC, total carbon;

PAHs, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.

¹ Complete combustion conditions typically encountered in continuously operating heaters e.g. pellet boilers.

² Improved batch combustion appliance operated under good operation practices

(e.g. modern masonry heaters and stoves) or erratic/low load use of continuously operated appliances.

³ Typical conditions in batch combustion appliances e.g. conventional masonry heaters and stoves.

⁴ Batch combustion appliances used with poor operational practices or combustion conditions in an old wood log boiler or sauna stove

Oskari Uski Toxicological Effects of Fine Particles from Small-scale Biomass Combustion



Fine particles are one of the most important pollutants present in outdoor air. Domestic biomass combuston makes a substantial contribution to the total worldwide fine particulate emissions. This thesis evaluates the scientific data on fine particle emissions from various combustion appliances and fuels and their relationship to activated toxicological responses. Zinc which is the main transition metal in the emissions from wood combustion. was related in *in vivo* and *in vitro* models to the abilities of the particles to induces toxic effects.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences

ISBN 978-952-61-1600-6